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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETR®E

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”),
| am pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) the 2020 annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 30 September
2020.

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2020
and 2019 was approximately HK$543,968,000 and approximately
HK$691,750,000 respectively, representing a decrease of approximately
21.4%. The net profit of the Group for the year ended 30 September
2020 and 2019 was approximately HK$56,018,000 and approximately
HK$66,035,000 respectively, representing a decrease of approximately
15.2%. Details of the Group’s results and prospects will be discussed
under the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this 2020
annual report of the Group.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK5.2 cents (2019: HK5.2 cents) per ordinary share to the Shareholders
(subject to approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting) for the year ended 30 September 2020.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere gratitude to all
patrons, suppliers, business partners and the Shareholders for their
support and patience during the past year. May | also salute our
managers at all levels and dedicated staff for their invaluable contributions
and diligent efforts during the past year.

leong Un
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 December 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER R DA

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2020
and 2019 was approximately HK$543,968,000 and approximately
HK$691,750,000 respectively, representing a decrease of approximately
21.4%.

The decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to (i) the impact of
unprecedented Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the “COVID-19”) since
early 2020; and (i) the disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended
30 September 2019 as detailed below.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2020
and 2019 was approximately HK$190,653,000 and approximately
HK$228,260,000 respectively, representing a decrease of approximately
16.5%.

The decrease in gross profit was due to the decrease in revenue during
the year ended 30 September 2020 as mentioned above.

Changes in fair value of investment properties
The changes in fair value of investment properties during the year ended
30 September 2020 were mainly attributable to the investment properties
located in Macao Special Administrative Region (“Macau”) of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) which were based on the valuation as at
30 September 2020 assessed by an independent valuer.

Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution costs of the Group for the year ended
30 September 2020 and 2019 was approximately HK$47,193,000 and
approximately HK$62,248,000 respectively, representing a decrease of
approximately 24.2%.

The decrease in selling and distribution costs was mainly attributable to
the decrease in sales related costs as a result of the decrease in revenue
during the year ended 30 September 2020 as mentioned above.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the year ended
30 September 2020 and 2019 was approximately HK$78,186,000 and
approximately HK$102,886,000 respectively, representing a decrease of
approximately 24.0%.

The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly attributable to the
tightened cost control after the outbreak of the COVID-19.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DM

Impairment loss of investment in an associate

The impairment loss of investment in an associate, which is principally
engaged in the provision of management service to the government car
parks in Macau, was made during the year ended 30 September 2020
as a result of the current epidemic effect on the utilisation rate of the
government car parks in Macau.

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

The gain on disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 30 September
2019 was arising from the disposal (the “Disposal”) of a disposal group
which was principally engaged in the trading and acting as the sales
agent for adhesive used in the production of electronic products. The
Disposal was completed on 8 March 2019 and was a one-off and non-
recurring item without affecting the core business of the Group. Please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 28 February 2019
and 8 March 2019 for details of the Disposal.

Profit for the year

As a result of the abovementioned, during the year ended 30 September
2020, the Group reported a net profit of approximately HK$56,018,000
(year ended 30 September 2019: approximately HK$66,035,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Business

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Group is principally
engaged in the manufacturing and selling of adhesives, primers,
hardeners and vulcanized shoes adhesive related products used by the
footwear manufacturers.

As at 30 September 2020, the Group had 3 manufacturing plants in the
PRC, Social Republic of Vietnam (“Vietnam”) and Republic of Indonesia
(“Indonesia”). If necessary, the Group will consider to further expand its
existing manufacturing facilities and set up new manufacturing plant to
satisfy its prestige customers’ needs.

Cost control

The Group will continue to carefully review and extensively investigate
into the current situation in relation to costs and resources deployment.
Facing the uncertainties of the current epidemic effect, the Group will
consider to tighten its control over the operating costs in the short term
proactively and effectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFNRR DN

Research and development

The Group has continuously dedicated to develop premium and quality
products on an environmental friendly basis to satisfy the market needs,
and closely observe the development trend in the future to research and
develop products continuously in order to satisfy the future development
needs in the industry. In addition to its own research and development
team, the Group also cooperated with some international well-known
chemical corporations (including Germany and Japan) to develop new
products and entered into technology cooperation agreements with
several sophisticated technology experts in the industry (including
those from countries and regions such as Japan, Taiwan and Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (‘Hong Kong”) of the PRCQC).
Hopefully, through the above measures, it will enhance the research
and development capabilities of the Group so as to maintain the leading
position of its technologies in the industry.

Prospects

Short to medium term outlook: In view of the current epidemic effect
across the globe, it is difficult to predict how long it will last. The market
currently adopts a wait and see approach to the epidemic effect. As
such, it is more difficult for the Board to predict the sales performance
of the Group in 2021.

Medium to long term outlook: Due to the global demand for footwear still
growing continually, more stringent requirement from the manufacturers for
the quality of adhesives which would gradually eliminate industry players
with less competitiveness, the demand for the use of environmental water-
based adhesive products by footwear brands and manufacturers still
growing, the effect of the previous regional deployments of the Group has
become prominent under the changes in the market. The Group has been
maintaining partnerships with its prestige customers for a number of years.
As such, the Board expects that the growth of the Group’s sales in the
medium to long term will remain stable. The Group will continue to devote
necessary resources to further increase its market share if appropriate.

Leveraging on the Group’s solid experience accumulated over the years, its
premium and quality products recognised by the market and its competence
in research and development capabilities, the Group will continue to commit
to its core business. The Group will also consider to invest and develop its
OEM business in a proactive manner in order to broaden its revenue base.

Looking ahead, the Board remains prudent and optimistic about the
prospects of our core business in the long term. The Group will follow
a very cautious approach to ensure corporate sustainability in 2021. In
2021, the Group will monitor its working capital management closely. The
Group will also closely and carefully monitor the latest development of the
footwear manufacturing industry and our core business; and the latest
development of the epidemic effect and adjust its business strategies
from time to time if required.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DM

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 September 2020, the Group had interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$33,880,000 (30 September 2019:
nil). As at 30 September 2020, the Group’s banking facilities were
secured by (i) the Group’s restricted bank deposits of approximately
HK$6,725,000 (30 September 2019: approximately HK$13,101,000); (ii)
the Group’s certain property, plant and equipment with carrying amount
of approximately HK$3,466,000 (30 September 2019: approximately
HK$3,572,000); (i) the Group’s investment properties with carrying
amount of approximately HK$64,400,000 (30 September 2019:
approximately HK$69,900,000); and (iv) corporate guarantee executed by
the Company.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy
while the Group pays vigilant attention to and monitors interest rate risks
continuously and cautiously.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group has normally funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through net cash generated from its operating activities.

As at 30 September 2020, the Group had restricted bank deposits
of approximately HK$6,725,000 (30 September 2019: approximately
HK$13,101,000). As at 30 September 2020, the Group had
interest-bearing bank borrowings of approximately HK$33,880,000
(80 September 2019: nil) and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$4,868,000 (30 September 2019: nil). Therefore, as at 30 September
2020, the gearing ratio (defined as the total of bank borrowings and lease
liabilities divided by total equity) of the Group was approximately 9.2%
(80 September 2019: nil). As at 30 September 2020, the current ratio
of the Group was approximately 2.6 (30 September 2019: approximately
2.9).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risks as (i) most of
the Group’s business transactions are denominated in United States
dollars; and (ii) the Group’s assets and liabilities are principally derived
from our overseas operations and mainly denominated in United States
dollars, Renminbi and Vietnam Dong. The Group expects that Hong Kong
dollars will continue to be pegged to United States dollars. As such, the
Group expects that Hong Kong dollars will not have material fluctuation
against foreign currencies which might materially affect the Group’s
operations. During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Group did
not employ any financial instruments for hedging purpose. The Group
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider adopting
hedging policy should the need arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DM

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, during the year
ended 30 September 2020, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals.

MATERIAL

There was no formal plan authorised by the Board for any significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals as at 30 September 2020
and up to the date of this annual report.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 September 2020, the Group had capital commitments
of approximately HK$889,000 (30 September 2019: approximately
HK$836,000) in respect of acquisitions of property, plant and equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 September 2020, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no other material events occurring after the reporting
period and up to the date of this annual report.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 September 2020, the Group employed a total of 333
(30 September 2019: 354) employees. It is the policy of the Group to
provide a regular review on its employees’ pay levels, performance
bonus system and other fringe benefits (including social insurance
coverage and training sponsorship) to ensure that the remuneration
policy is competitive within the relevant industry. During the year ended
30 September 2020, the staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$74,718,000 (year ended 30 September
2019: approximately HK$86,377,000).

The remuneration policy for the Directors is based on their experience,
level of responsibilities, lengths of services and general market conditions.
Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments are linked to the
financial results of the Group and the individual performance of the
Directors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRR DN

INVESTMENTS OF THE GROUP

Warrant Parking Management Limited

The Group has held 40% equity interest in Warrant Parking Management
Limited (“Warrant Parking”) since 2017. The principal activity of Warrant
Parking is mainly engaged in the provision of management service to the
government car parks in Macau.

Hunan Changsha cooperation

On 12 October 2015, the Group entered into a non-legally binding
memorandum of understanding with #k & REMMER TREMFEHLE
[R/A7A] (transliterated as Zhuzhou National Engineering Research Centre
of Converters Co., Ltd.*) (“ZNERCC”) and entered into a non-legally
binding cooperation agreement with ZNERCC and il A& el H
[R/~7\] (transliterated as Hunan Changsha Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd.")
in respect of the possible cooperation in photovoltaics system project(s).
Details thereof were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
12 October 2015. The Group will closely monitor and review the
status of the possible cooperation and will consider if any further or
binding cooperation shall be pursued. The Company will make further
announcement(s) in relation thereto if and when appropriate.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group had no
other investments as at 30 September 2020.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in this annual report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

To create a long term value for the interests of the Shareholders is
the Board’s main objective. As such, the Board is highly committed
to achieving a high standard of corporate governance and striving to
maintain the management practices in a transparent and responsible
way. The Board reviews and improves the Group’s corporate governance
practices and business ethics on an ongoing basis.

During the year ended 30 September 2020 and up to the date of this
report, the Company complied with all the code provisions, where
applicable, as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) and Corporate Governance Report in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) except for the
deviation mentioned in the section of “Chairman and Chief Executive”.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. All the Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, their compliance with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
30 September 2020.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group, and
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance.
The Board has delegated to the senior management the authority and
responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group.
Besides, the Board has established Board committees and has delegated
to these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate governance
duties of the Group and will assign relevant functions to other board
committees, namely the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
(collectively, the “Board Committees”) as and when appropriate.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.
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Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Details of the composition of the Board and biographies of the Directors
are set out on pages 2 to 3 of this annual report in the section of
“Corporate Information” and on pages 39 to 43 of this annual report in
the section of “Profile of Directors and Senior Management”, respectively.

The Board possesses the skills, experience and expertise either in the
same industry or relevant to the management of the business of the
Group which brings a good balance of relevant skills and experience
to the Company. The independent non-executive Directors also provide
their independent professional judgments on the assessment of the
development, performance and risk management of the Group.

Meetings and Attendance

The attendance of individual members of the Board at various meetings
during the year ended 30 September 2020, as well as the number of
such meetings held, are set out below:

R

ExgfimtaKEAK BROENTES
R=Z2BWIFNTEST EFSHNNESE
BEFBORNENAFRE2EIA[AREHR ] —
BN AN FRFOEBEEENSREEER
B —8 o

EXe AR TERAETEAKEXHKIEH
e BBRAERAE  RARFRNBEBR
EERERERRIEFE - BYIFATEEI
APEAREZBR - RENEREEME /K
FZBIEFHE -

ERRHERER
BE_ZT_ZTFNAA=THLEFE @rEFS
RERTREZZHFEEAREHEE R ZR1T
R

Number of meetings attended/held

HE BT2E8%EE
Audit Nomination Remuneration Annual
Board Committee = Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EEE BEHKZEEE RBZEET FMEEET RKRRBESF
-] E-f E-f- E-f- E
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. leong Un @ 5 e 0 1010 NATEAR N/AT i N/AT i 1/1
Mr. Ip Chin Wing BREEAE 4/10  NATREAR N/AT i N/AT i 1/1
Mr. Ip Ka Lun EEmis 9/10  NATEAR 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince Stephen Graham Prince %t & 4/10 N/AT3E A N/AT 38 A N/AT 38 A 11
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George @ Rk #h S @ 4/10 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Simon Luk @ BERE2ELEO 4/10 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Tong Hing Wah @ BEELEY 4/10 3/3 11 11 11
1. Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. 1. RARAREFSERERITHBE -
2. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 2. FTMHEEBGERE -
3. Chairman of the Nomination Committee. 3. REEESERE -
4, Chairman of the Audit Committee. 4., ERLZEEER -
Relationship R

None of the members of the Board has any relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships) between
each other.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules during the year ended 30 September 2020.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received written confirmation from each of the independent non-executive
Directors confirming his independence from the Company, and considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 313 of
the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of two years commenced from
1 January 2019. On 23 December 2020, each of the independent
non-executive Directors entered into a new service contract with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from 1 January 2021.
Notwithstanding the specific term of appointments, the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”) provide that every Director,
including all the independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being will retire from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election by
the Shareholders.

Directors’ Induction and Development

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Company arranged
a seminar provided by an independent third party for its Directors as
continuing professional trainings for corporate governance and compliance
purposes. Some Directors also participated in other seminars according
to their own preferences.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

In respect of code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual for a balance of power and authority. Mr. leong
Un is the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company. He is the founder of the Group and the substantial Shareholder
and has considerable experience in the adhesive related industry. The
Board considers that this situation will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company
because the balance of power and authority is governed by the operations
of the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals with
demonstrated integrity. Furthermore, decisions of the Board are made by
way of majority votes. The Board believes that this structure is conducive to
a more precise and more promptly response to the fast changing business
environment and a more efficient management and implementation of
business process. The Board also considers that vesting two roles in the
same person provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership in
the development and execution of the Group’s business strategies and is
beneficial to the Group.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board.
The Company is committed to having a Board with appropriate balance
of expertise, skills, experience and diversity of perspectives.

The Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
and regional experience.

The Board sets measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and reviews such objectives from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidate will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy by conducting review of the Board’s composition at least
once annually taking into account the benefits of all relevant diversity
aspects, and adhering to the Board Diversity Policy when making
recommendation on any Board appointments.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the diversity of
the Board is sufficient.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established Board Committees to oversee specific
aspects of the Company’s affairs and help it in the execution of its
responsibilities. Specific written terms of reference of these committees
clearly outline each committee’s authority and duty.

Each committee is required to report back on its decisions or
recommendations to the Board on a timely basis, unless there are any
legal or regulatory restrictions imposed on it.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (a) maintaining the
relationship with the Company’s auditor; (b) reviewing the Company’s
financial information; (c) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems; and (d) assessing
the Group’s corporate governance functions. The full version of the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website at www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

Pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit Committee is made
up of three independent non-executive Directors, including Mr. Tong Hing
Wah (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Wing Yau George and
Mr. Simon Luk. Mr. Tong Hing Wah (chairman of the Audit Committee)
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required.

The Audit Committee held three committee meetings during the year
ended 30 September 2020.
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Summary of work of the Audit Committee during the year
ended 30 September 2020

The Audit Committee held three committee meetings with the auditor,
RSM Hong Kong, to (a) discuss and review the audit plan of the Group for
the year ended 30 September 2019; (b) discuss and review the Group’s
results for the year ended 30 September 2019 and recommended the
same to the Board for approval; and (c) discuss and review the Group’s
results for the six months ended 31 March 2020 and recommended the
same to the Board for approval.

Other than the above, the Audit Committee also reviewed and discussed
the Group’s risk management and internal control function and financial
reporting matters, the existing terms of reference of the Audit Committee
and the Group’s overall corporate governance functions.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for (a) reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (b) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for implementing the said
policy; (c) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (d) assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
any proposed independent non-executive Directors; and () making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of the Directors, and succession planning for Directors in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the Company. The
full version of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website
at www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

The Nomination Committee is made up of four members including Mr.
Simon Luk (chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Chan Wing Yau
George, Mr. Tong Hing Wah and Mr. Ip Ka Lun.

The Nomination Committee held one committee meeting during the year
ended 30 September 2020.
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Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a Director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) for the Nomination Committee to identify and
evaluate a suitable candidate for nomination to () the Board for
appointment; or (i) the Shareholders for election, as Directors, at general
meetings.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out a number of factors in making
nomination, including but not limited to the following:

o Skills, experience and professional expertise which are relevant to
the operations of the Group;

o Diversity in all aspects as set out in the Board Diversity Policy;

o Commitment in respect of sufficient time and participation
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
Committee(s);

o Character, experience and integrity, and is able to demonstrate a
standard of competence commensurate with the relevant position
as a Director; and

o Requirements of independence of the proposed independent
non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Summary of work of the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 30 September 2020

The Nomination Committee held one committee meeting to review and
consider the composition of the Board, the Director Nomination Policy,
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, the
re-appointment of retiring Directors and the existing terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and the
structure for all the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy; (b) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (c) determining, making
recommendations to the Board, considering and approving the
remuneration package of all the Directors and senior management of the
Group and the compensation arrangements relating to loss or termination
of office and dismissal or removal of the Directors; (d) deciding the
remunerations of the Directors with independence; (e) advising the
Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service contracts
of Directors that require Shareholders’ approval under Rule 13.68 of
the Listing Rules; (f) consulting the chairman of the Board and/or the
chief executive officer of the Company about their proposals relating to
the remuneration of other executive Directors; and (g) ensuring proper
disclosure of the Director’'s remuneration in the annual report of the
Company in accordance with the accounting principles and the Listing
Rules. The full version of the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website at www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of four members including Mr.
Chan Wing Yau George (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr.
Simon Luk, Mr. Tong Hing Wah and Mr. Ip Ka Lun.

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting during the
year ended 30 September 2020.

Summary of work of the Remuneration Committee during
the year ended 30 September 2020

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting to review and
approve the remuneration package and structure of all the Directors and
senior management independently and the existing terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee.

Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group and the Directors’
emoluments are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Senior management’s remuneration
Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration paid
to the members of the senior management by band during the year
ended 30 September 2020 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)

=8 E B JE
RBECEERTAZTREXEBISE B2
TECEFAACTHILEFERSRAEEERK
EXNzHFWNSEEEHTMT :

Number of person(s)

i BN &5 B (78 7T) AE
0 - 1,000,000 1

1,000,001 = 1,500,000 2
1,500,001 — 2,000,000 2
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION T EEIRR B

The Board, with the assistance of other Board Committees, is BES@FHMEEZESHRB T BEHT

responsible for performing the corporate governance functions, and it EEABE  NMARBILEREENSH

accordingly reviews and monitors the training and continuing professional
development of Directors and the senior management, and ensures its
policies and practices in compliance with relevant laws and regulatory
requirements. During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Board has
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the auditor, RSM Hong
Kong, received HK$1,250,000 for provision of audit service and
approximately HK$599,000 for non-audit services.

There were no disagreements between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of the auditor, RSM Hong Kong,
during the year ended 30 September 2020.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All the Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Group.

The statement of the auditor, RSM Hong Kong, about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 53 to 58 of this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to any events or conditions

which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group’s risk management and internal control procedures include
a management structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and limits of authority. It primarily aims to provide a reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance that assets are properly safeguarded against
misappropriations, transactions are executed in accordance with the
management’s authorisation, and accounting records are reliable and
proper for preparing financial information and are not materially misstated.
The procedure is designed to identify, evaluate and manage risks
effectively rather than to eliminate all risks of failure.

The Board, with the assistance of other Board committees, is responsible
for maintaining adequate procedures of risk management and internal
control for the Group and the Board had conducted an annual review
of its effectiveness during the year ended 30 September 2020. Same
as last year’s practice, the Company engaged an external independent
internal control adviser to conduct a review on the internal control
procedures of the Group. The review covered material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions during the year ended 30 September 2020. The findings have
been addressed. No significant areas of improvement which are required
to be brought to the attention of the Board have been revealed.

As such, the Board is satisfied that the Group’s internal control
procedures including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions as appropriate to the Group have been put
in place and considers that the Group’s internal control procedures and
risk management functions are both effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company:

° is aware of its obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571) (the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules and is
required, as soon as reasonably practicable after any inside
information has come to its knowledge, to disclose the information
to the public;

o has established and implemented procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.

Senior management is identified and authorised to act as the Company’s
spokespersons and respond to enquiries in allocated areas of issues.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
who is also the financial controller of the Company, is a full time
employee of the Company. During the year ended 30 September 2020,
the Company Secretary undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
His biography is set out on page 43 of this annual report in the section
of “Profile of Directors and Senior Management”.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies,
The Company endeavors to maintain an ongoing dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meeting. The Chairman of the Board will make
himself available at the annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meeting to meet with the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year ended 30 September 2020, there were no changes in
the Company’s constitutional documents.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

The Dividend Policy would be in the best interests of the Group and the
Shareholders. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting the Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management
with a sustainable Dividend Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the Group
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends, inter alia:

(@) the actual and expected financial performance and the financial
results;

(b)  the actual and available surplus and working capital;

(c) the expected working capital requirements and cash flow required
for the future expansion plans;
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(d)  the debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

(e) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the lenders;

(f) the general economic conditions, business cycle and other internal
and external factors that may have an impact on the business
conditions or financial performance, the strategies and the financial
position of the Company;

(9) the future operations and earnings; and
(h) any other conditions or factors that the Board deems relevant.

Any final or special dividends must be approved by the Shareholders at
a general meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by
the Board. The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders
any interim dividends as appear to the Directors to be justified by the
profits of the Group.

The form, frequency and amount of dividend payment by the Company
are subject to any restrictions under the Companies Laws, Cap. 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands,
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing
Rules, the Articles, any other applicable laws and regulations and any
other financial covenants imposed by financial institutions. The Company
does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The
Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may not be used
as a reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be
declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserve the
rights in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company in respect of
future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

1.

022

The way in which the Shareholders can convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionists and lodged to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong with the address at Units 2201-2202, 22/F, Alliance Building,
133 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, and may consist of
several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the requirements under the Articles to all the
registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid,
the members concerned will be advised of this outcome, and
accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.

The notice period to be given to all Shareholders for consideration
of the proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned at an EGM
varies, according to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

o at least 14 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes

an ordinary resolution of the Company in an EGM.

o at least 21 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes
a special resolution of the Company in an EGM.
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The procedures the Shareholders can use to propose
a person for election as a Director

No person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to
the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing
of the intention to propose that person for election as a Director
and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
including that person’s biographical details, shall have been lodged
to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong with the address at Units 2201-2202, 22/F,
Alliance Building, 133 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, at
least 7 days before the date of the general meeting. The lodgement
of notice should also be in compliance with the other requirements
of the Listing Rules.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Any Shareholder(s) who wish to raise his/their enquiries concerning
the Company to the Board may deliver his/their written enquiry(ies)
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
at the address at Units 2201-2202, 22/F, Alliance Building, 133
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, or at any address notified
by the Company from time to time and for the attention of the
chairman of the Board and the Company Secretary. Upon receipt
of the enquiries, the Company would reply as soon as possible.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group contributes to sustainable development by delivering
environmental, social and economic benefits to all stakeholders in
a balanced way. This year, the Group is pleased to present our
environmental, social and governance report for the year ended
30 September 2020 for the purpose of demonstrating our efforts on
sustainable developments to our stakeholders.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to
the Listing Rules and is divided into two parts, namely environmental
and social.

A.  ENVIRONMENTAL

Environmental Management Policy

The Group is committed to sustainable development and delivering
our premium and quality products in a manner with minimal impact
to the environment resulting from our business activities.

For the environmental protection and secure usage of chemical
products, we are committed to:

° Establishing a responsible chemical sales and management
system, and making continuous effort to improve public
health, community safety and environmental protection;

° Keeping up-to-date with the latest developments in
environmental protection and occupational hygiene and safety

issues;

° Establishing stringent safety guidelines for handling
dangerous chemicals;

° Providing continuous occupational safety and environmental
protection education and training to employees and

customers;

° Dedicating to the research and development of products that
are both ecologically sound and occupationally safe; and

° Promoting the use of environmental-friendly products actively.

The Group’s environmental management system was accredited
with ISO 14001:2015.
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A() EMISSIONS Al) BERLY)
Emission B
During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Group’s types of BHEZZ-_ZTFNLA=THLFE *&
emissions and respective emissions data are showed as below: EEEMYBERERBBROTIRAR:
2020 2019
- et i —T-NEF
Increase/
(decrease)
Emission Data Emission Data Percentage
(approximately) (approximately) Unit (approximately)
/O )
EFad
Types of Emissions B @ Bk BUE (4) B g (1) By (%)
Nitrogen Oxides (NOy) RALy 167,764 137,632 kg T7 21.9%
Sulfur Oxides (SOy) mafty 833 682 kg 5 22.1%
Particulate Matter (PM) BEY 4 48 kg 7 (14.6%)
Direct greenhouse gas emissions (scope one) are resulting from BEEREREHEN(EREEAEEHE
diesel oil and gasoline used by vehicles. Indirect greenhouse ARl kA - MERERESN(E
gas emissions (scope two) are mainly resulting from electricity BO)FEXRERAESEEETIHRNE S
consumed in workplace of the Group. Due to the nature of our B ERAEEMERME  AEEW
Group, the greenhouse gas emissions of the Group were mainly BERBEREFERAREBREBE= -

generated from scope two.

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Group’s greenhouse HEZZ-_ZTFNLA=ZTHLFE *&
gas emissions in total and intensity are showed as below: RERBEFRENERBEERLTR:
2020 2019
i S 32 —T-NF
Increase/
(decrease)
Emission Data Emission Data Percentage
(approximately) (approximately) Unit  (approximately)
=i,/ Ci 4)
B
Scopes of Greenhouse Gas nE RS HE HE R BUR (49) B ER (1) =) (%)
Direct Greenhouse Gas Emissions ERRE RN 536 538" tCO.e (0.4%)
W_atig=s
Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions R EREHEN 2,313 2,280 tCOe 1.4%
W= atiiE s
Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Total MERBAHNE 2,849 2,818* tCO.e 1.1%
W_atixg s
Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Intensity AZREHHZE 0.14 012 tCO,e/ton of 16.7%
adhesives produced
M_RiEE
B2 B £ EW
* restated * ERdl
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The Group proactively makes its great efforts to reduce greenhouse AEEEGR AN BANSRMHRE
gas emissions by improving our manufacturing system. ZAERB AR E REEHEM -

The Group sets up waste gas treatment facilities and equipment to AEBRTEREERERZE  UE
treat the waste gas generated during our manufacturing process. BRERERELENER -

The Group plans to gradually phase out the diesel forklifts by AREBFEANTHXNEZE FH KL B X
electric one. EH o
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Whenever possible, the Group has endeavored the best effort in
greening process in the areas of our manufacturing plants.

Waste Management

Due to the nature of the Group, various hazardous wastes and non-
hazardous wastes are generated during our manufacturing process.
During the year ended 30 September 2020, the quantity of these

EAIBEMIEAT - ARECE N ERFIN
EETMEANETRIL -

BEMER

ENAREENEBEE  RRMAREBRRE
TEELRBEEREMNEBETEEY
BE_Z-_TFNA=THILEFE ZF

wastes was as follows: BEEYHHERTR:

2020 2019

—EZEHF —E-NF

Quantity Quantity
(approximately) (approximately) Unit
Waste BEE WY = (4) 2= (4)) B
Hazardous 5= 224 283 Tons WA
Non-hazardous mE 25 32 Tons WA

Hazardous wastes are strictly segregated from non-hazardous
wastes for proper collection and treatment purpose. Hazardous
wastes have been clearly identified and stored in a designated and
segregated area. Licensed waste collector has been engaged for

disposal of hazardous wastes.

EEBERYEEZERYES DR AM
ZEWENRE BAEEEVSRARE
B WERNEEMEREREE - DR
FEBRMWEBREBEERY -
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Alll)

028

The Group does not involve in any material discharge of industrial
sewage. Domestic wastewater will be discharged into the municipal
pipe network after being processed.

General Compliances

In summary, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was
no material non-compliance with the applicable local rules and
regulations relating to air emissions, greenhouse gas emissions,
water and land discharges, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes in all material aspects.

USE OF RESOURCES

Resources

The main resources used by the Group in the manufacturing
process are electricity, fuel and water. In order to be an
environmentally responsible corporation, the Group strive to
improve the efficiency and effectiveness of resources consumption
in the manufacturing process for minimisation of wastage and
avoidance of excessive usage of precious resources.

During the year ended 30 September 2020, to the best knowledge

of our Directors’ knowledge, we believe that there is no material
issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
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During the year ended 30 September 2020, the energy
consumption by type in total of the Group are showed as below:

HE-_Z-_ZFANA=THILFE K&
EiREEE SN RAEERER RO :

2020 2019

—EEF —E—RF

Data Data
(approximately) (approximately) Unit
Direct/Indirect Energy by Type B TEiER 2 EHE BUIR (49) HUE (%)) Xy
Diesel ESp: 131,804 134,760* litre A F+
Gasoline i 69,437 66,903* litre X F+
Electricity E5) 2,946,410 2,904,035 kWh F F B
Water 7K 87,992 85,837 ms3 37 75 K

* restated * £

The Group is conscious of environmental protection. Further details
of which are disclosed in the sections “Environmental Management
Policy” above and “The Environment and Natural Resources”
below.

Use of Packaging Material

The Group mainly uses metal and plastic containers and cartoon
boxes as packaging material for our adhesive products. During the
year ended 30 September 2020, the Group purchased approximately
2,033 (2019: approximately 2,196) tonnes of packaging material for
sales of adhesive products. If possible, we would aim to increase the
effectiveness of packaging material through continuous examination
of using stronger and lighter packaging material from the market.

A(Il) THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Environment protection is the responsibility of every staff in the
Group. The Group is committed to sustainable development and
delivering our premium and quality products in a manner with
minimal impact to the environment resulting from our business
activities.

Apart from those details disclosed in the sections “Environmental
Management Policy”, “Emissions” and “Use of Resources” above,
the Group also continuously implements “green” concept with the
following measures:

° Office Power Saving: Policy to turn off lights when not in use,
air-conditioning temperature control, printer and computer
hibernation management, shut down of lights and computers
during lunch break, etc.

° Paper Saving: Implement paperless office, use email and
online system for document review and communication where
possible, reduce the frequency of printing and/or copying,
and reduce the use of office paper.
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° Reduce the Use of Plastic Bottled Water: Provide water
drinking supply equipment at all production bases for usage
purpose. Employees are encouraged to bring along their own
reusable cups to reduce the use of plastic bottles.

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

EMPLOYMENT

The Group considers our employees as the most valuable wealth
and resources and believes that its employees are propellent of
corporate growth. Therefore, the Group is committed to providing
an equal opportunity, a harmonious and diversified working
environment to our employees in order to attract and retain
suitable talents in the competitive labour market for maintaining its
competitiveness in the industry.

Our employment system is properly documented, covering
resources planning, performance evaluation, training, compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination.

The Group always shows our kindness and care to our staff. In
addition to those benefits required by law, the Group also provides
other benefits and welfare for social responsibilities purposes.

To ensure equal opportunities, employees must declare any
relatives working in the Group during the job application process.

The Group does not tolerate discrimination. Employees should
not be treated unequally on their personal characteristics,
including age, gender, religious belief, nationality and pregnancy.
Opportunities for promotion, training, resources, and recruitment
should be provided on a fair basis.
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In addition, the Group places a high value on creation of a
diversified corporate culture by making active efforts to recruit
employees with different background to enhance the Group
developing into a big family with diversification.

During the year ended 30 September 2020, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material
non-compliance or breach of relevant laws and regulations in

employment.

As at 30 September 2020,

the Group had 333 (2019: 354)

R NEBEREY—EZTEEX
£ BEBERTRAESNET  REAE

BERA-BEAZTRENARE -
BE_T_TFAA=TRHLFE #E
ERORA - BRI E I & IR

AERTEHRIERBEEEZRBOINE
18

RZZE-_ZTFNA=1+H  ~EBEHF333%

employees. Below is an overview of the composition of our (ZZ2—NF:354%)EE - T AikHhIE
employees by geographical location and function. BRI ERE D RENE -
By geographical location By function
R B EHE D BRInEEE BB D
Macau 7 Management 35
P9 19 EE 35
Hong Kong 2
wE |2 Administration 39
T 38
PRC 134
P 109
Finance and 25
Vietnam 142 accounting 25
7 142 s
Indonesia 35 .
] Production 102
e 34 e 95
Bangladesh 6
AN
& 8 Research and 21
Kingdom of development
Cambodia ° W 19
FHR 16
Sales, marketing and
Taiwan | 3 technical services 132
/% |3 HE TR 121
Bl RS
30 60 90 120 150 0 30 60 90 120 150
2019 2020
—E-hF ZRIREF

The Group has established objective performance indicators for
employees’ annual performance evaluation. Supervisor discusses
the performance with employee in facilitating an effective two-way
communications. Based on the evaluation result, the Group offers
rewards to our employees who perform outstandingly so as to
encourage their continuous improvement and achieve the target of
mutual growth of employee and the Group.

During the year ended 30 September 2020, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material
non-compliance or breach of relevant laws and regulations in
employment.
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B(ll) HEALTH AND SAFETY B(l) lZEEEZ &

The Group places a high value on health of our employees and
is dedicated to creating a safe working environment for our
employees. The safeguard for employees’ health and safety is
one of the most important parts of the Group’s corporate control
management.

The Group has outdoor basketball court, swimming pool and other
fitness facilities to create a happy and healthy workplace for our
employees.

To create a safe working environment, the Group has established
safety policies on the prevention and remediation of safety
accidents, and detection on potential safety hazards in workplace,
including regular safety inspections and launch of safety promotion
and safety training.

To mitigate the health and safety risk during manufacturing
processes, protective equipment would be provided to operating
employees, such as emergency eye wash equipment, helmet, gas
mask etc.

As mentioned earlier, the Group sets up waste gas treatment
facilities and equipment to treat the waste gas generated during
our manufacturing process.
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Our staffs are briefed and trained with safety and environmental
knowledge regularly to ensure that everyone understands the
risk of the task they are involved, has safety and environmental
consciousness and is familiar with safety and environmental
precaution measures.

Hazardous materials and wastes are handled separately with
great care. Emergency and evacuation procedures for fire were
established for timely and orderly response to any major safety
accidents.

The Group monitors the workplace safety continuously, and
performs a regular examination of workplace safety hazards. To
ensure the effectiveness of fire emergency control, the Group
appointed a third-party institute to test its fire alarms and inspect
its fire safety equipment.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 brought challenges to both
the Group’s operations and customers. As such, the Group
implemented a number of measures across business units to
safeguard the health of customers and employees. The Group
operated in strict accordance with the crowd control and social
distancing rules issued by respective local Governments, and
proactively took additional disinfection steps to maintain a safe and
hygienic environment.

During the year ended 30 September 2020, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no occurrence of any fatal
accident.

FHHRMME T ETET 2 RIRBEMGRD
FRENMEI - URBRFIBAHETHRESN
TERE  WEEZERRBEEHLAL
LTENIRBE B -

BEEVHEERZEMEEBSFERE - AKX
ZEZRGAREFACEY  UELEEH
FitEHTAEAL2EN -

AEBEBBEERTESHMEE  RETE
SHEZEREBETENRE - RERAK
NEREZOERI  REEDRSEE=
THBHENEZGRETAS  kMeE
HOBRaepf e

COVID-19/8 # A AL B & E RNE PR
hE - Bl AEBEER—RINEEZMAE
EREMNEE REEPRESRE -
AN B 0 BR AR B ST S b BRI 28 R Y
PRESKAZBERA - W+ B EREEE I
WESER  BERZE2EERE -

%Fﬁ%ﬂ Iﬁ?ﬁ?i&ﬂ@lun %Eﬁ(

Annual Report 2020 | —Z=Z& %% (033



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiE - HERERKRE

B(lll) DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group pays attention to sustainable development of our
employees. As such, the Group arranges appropriate training
program in accordance with the needs of different departments,
covering the areas of environmental management, occupational
health and safety for employees. In addition, the Group arranges
orientation training for new employees with reference to their
positions.

The Group adheres to an open and responsible attitude and listens
to the opinions modesty; and improves its work efficiency by means
of continuous review and self-examination.

B(V) LABOUR STANDARDS

034

It is clearly stated that child labor and forced labor is prohibited.
During the recruitment process, the Group would verify the actual
age of the applicant by checking to his identity card and other
records in order to avoid hiring of child labor by mistake.

During the year ended 30 September 2020, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material non-
compliance or breach of relevant laws and regulations in child
labour and forced labour.
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Operating Practices

B(V)SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group pays great attention to the co-operation with suppliers
and greatly believes that establishment of a cooperation relationship
with suppliers would enhance the continuous improvement on the
Group’s operational flow and product quality.

Apart from the assessment of brand and quality, environmental and
social risk management is also taken into consideration as one of
the selection criteria for establishing strategic relationship.

The Group examines the performance of suppliers regularly
by onsite inspection. The Group also conducts suppliers’
comprehensive review on a regular basis.

B(Vl) PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group believes that we could only get trust and support from
our customers upon we create the best value for them.

Facing rapid changes and increasing demands in the market,
the Group will adhere to quality, research and development and
service as our development plan and improve our operational
flow continuously. By upholding honest, servicing, aggressive,
responsible and win-win core culture and fully understanding
customers’ needs, the Group makes our every endeavour to meet
our customers’ needs and excel their expectations; and develop
and make progress mutually with our customers and co-operation
associates.

Health and Safety

The awareness on chemicals and expectation on product safety
from the public keeps on increasing. Being a chemical-responsible
corporation, accredited with the ISO 9001:2015 and ISO 14001:
2015, we strictly monitor the quality and safety of our products.

Since our manufacturing processes involve usage of chemicals,
we are committed to complying with local rules and regulations
on product safety, and protecting consumers’ health on using our
products. In accordance with the requirement of the ISO 9001:2015
and ISO 14001:2015, the Group implements stringent internal rules
and procedures for quality check during its manufacturing process.
Any non-conformity products must be handled properly, including
proper labelling and recording.
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Advertising

The Group understands our customers’ rights and is committed to
providing accurate product and service information for customers
in connection with their purchase or consumption decision. The
Group requires careful review of advertising material to protect
customers’ interest.

Labelling

The Group is committed to providing sufficient and accurate
information and product label to customers and considers that
it is an extended responsibility of product safety management.
The Group provides clear and simple instructions, including the
danger, precaution measures and emergency treatment of chemical
products and contact information.

Privacy Matters
The Group is also committed to the protection of intellectual
property rights and the protection of customers’ data and privacy.
Customer data will not be used for publicity purposes without
customers’ consent.

Methods of Redress

Although the Group is to ensure the quality of our products and
services, at the same time, it requires that products with quality
issues should be returned or compensated in accordance with
terms of sales contracts. Return, recall, or compensation of
products is required to be offered to all customers who are affected
with consistent treatment and procedures.

During the year ended 30 September 2020, to the best knowledge
of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material issues
on product health and safety, advertising, labelling, methods of
redress and privacy matters.

B(VI) ANTI-CORRUPTION

036

Anti-corruption is one of the basic principles of the corporate social
responsibility as defined by the international. The Group has a
zero-tolerance policy for corruptions by any forms (such as bribery,
extorting bribe, fraud and money laundering) and is committed to
operating its business with honesty, ethics and integrity.

The Group has established a code of conduct for the employees.
During the year ended 30 September 2020, to the best knowledge

of our Directors’ knowledge, we did not identify any material issues
on corruptions.
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Community

B(VIll) COI\/II\/IUNITY INVESTMENT

The awareness on corporate social responsibility from the
public keeps on increasing which emphasizes that corporation
needs to operate and take society’s long-term development into
consideration instead of focusing on short-term target at financial
results and the Shareholders’ return. Being a social-responsible
corporation, the Group is committed to making every contributions
to its community where it belongs to.

Due to the successful research and development and promotion
of water-based adhesive products which could significantly reduce
volatile organic compounds emission during vulcanized shoe
production process, the Group was awarded the “Certificate of
Rainforest Security Interest” and the legal title of an ancient tree
in an old-growth forest in Brazil by the relevant organisation.
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038

The Group has all along concerned about the education issue
in impoverished areas. Construction of Youxin Peimiao Dingan
Primary School in Teng County, Guangxi, by donation since
2006, the Group has been helping various schools’ education
and construction of facilities by means of donation and voluntary
work by our staffs yearly. The Group knows the importance of
social corporate responsibility through the satisfaction of different
stakeholders and is committed to understanding the needs of
the community where the Group operates and actively making
contributions to sustainable development. In the future, the Group
will set up community investment policies to provide more concrete
management direction and measures to employees, if necessary.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESkEREEERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. leong Un (“Mr. leong”), aged 66, being a founder of the Group,
is our executive Director, chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Group. Mr. leong is primarily responsible for (i) the Group’s
strategic planning, including geographical and network expansion
of the Group’s business; (i) product research and development; (iii)
enhancement of the Group’s capability in marketing and promotion as
well as technical assistance to customers; and (iv) positioning the Group
in the adhesive industry. Mr. leong has been leading the Group engaging
in adhesive development, sale and production business. Mr. leong has
approximately 30 years’ experience in the adhesive related industry.
Prior to the establishment of the Group in 1990, Mr. leong held a senior
management position of Luen Ying Hong Company Limited, a distributor
of petroleum related products for more than 6 years in Macau. During
such employment, Mr. leong was responsible for the management of the
business operation, and the marketing and technical services team. Mr.
leong is the sole shareholder and sole director of All Reach Investments
Limited, the controlling Shareholder.

Mr. Ip Chin Wing (“Mr. CW Ip”), aged 66, is our executive Director
and deputy general manager of the Group. He is responsible for
the management and daily operation of the Group and also assists
the chairman of the Board in formulating business strategies and
implementing corporate and operational decisions. Prior to joining the
Group in 2001, Mr. CW Ip served as a general manager of Dongguan
Advanced Coatings Company Limited, a sino-foreign joint venture
company registered in the PRC. In 2009, Mr. CW Ip was awarded by
hmEA4E HEE (China Society of Productivity) and FE {3 it
(China Enterprise Newspapers Office) as China enterprise innovative and
outstanding person of 2009 (20094 /E Bl {b 2 BIETEFHAY). Mr. CW Ip
obtained a certificate in industrial trade instruction from The Hong Kong
Technical Teachers’ College in 1982.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Ip Ka Lun (“Mr. KL Ip”), aged 66, is our executive Director and
deputy general manager of the Group. He is responsible for overseeing
the treasury and administrative functions of the Group and also assists
the chairman of the Board in formulating business strategies and
implementing corporate and operational decisions. Mr. KL Ip has 30
years’ experience of overseeing the operation of accounting and finance
departments. Prior to joining the Group in 2000, he was the manager
of finance and accounts department of Yaohan Department Store (H.K.)
Limited in Hong Kong from 1984 to 1997. He joined Noble City Holdings
Limited, a holding company carrying out construction materials related
business in the PRC, as a finance manager from 1998 to 2000. Mr.
KL Ip obtained a bachelor degree in business from Tamkang University
(Taiwan) in 1977.

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince (“Mr. Prince”), aged 58, is our executive
Director and the director of business and marketing of the Group. He is
responsible for overseeing sales and marketing functions of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group in 2005, Mr. Prince worked as a general
manager of Interliance LLC. and was the chief representative of this
company in Shanghai, responsible for project management, business
intelligence and operational strategy. Mr. Prince graduated from Audrey
Cohen College in the U.S. with a bachelor of business administration
degree in 1992 and obtained a master degree of business administration
from Fordham University in 2001.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Yau George (“Mr. Chan”), aged 65, is our independent
non-executive Director. He joined the Group in March 2010. He is the
chief executive officer of Capital Focus Asset Management Limited, the
managing director of Shun Loong Securities Company Limited and an
independent non-executive director of Weigiao Textile Company Limited
(Stock code: 2698), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He had been a director of Jardine Fleming Investment Services
Limited. After leaving Jardine Fleming Investment Services Limited, he
joined HSBC Asset Management Hong Kong Limited as an executive
director. He has extensive experience in fund management. Mr. Chan
had held several positions of public services, such as a member of
the Financial Services Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council, the chairman of Investment Sub-Committee of
and board member of Ocean Park Corporation, and the chairman of the
Hong Kong Investment Funds Association China Sub-Committee. Mr.
Chan obtained a bachelor of mathematics degree from the University of
Waterloo in 1978.
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Mr. Simon Luk (“Mr. Luk”), aged 55, is our independent non-executive
Director. He joined the Group on 21 November 2013. Mr. Luk graduated
from the University of Alberta in 1990 with a bachelor degree in Arts
major in Economics. Mr. Luk has been a responsible officer for the
regulated activities of asset management (Type 9) under the SFO since
2003. He has over 20 years’ experience in asset management and
investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various investment advising
companies. Mr. Luk has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of China Investment and Finance Group Limited (Stock
code: 1226), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since 2 July 2014. Since 23 September 2020, Mr. Luk has been the
responsible officer of EAl Securities Limited.

Mr. Tong Hing Wah (“Mr. Tong”), aged 50, is our independent
non-executive Director. He joined the Group on 21 November 2013.
Mr. Tong graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1993 with a bachelor degree in accountancy. He is a certified public
accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has over 25 years of experience in regulatory
compliance, financial reporting, auditing and financial management,
including over 15 years of experience as the chief financial officer and/or
company secretary in Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. Tong is currently
the director of a business consultancy firm and the company secretary
of Link Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8237), a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zheng Guo Liang (“Mr. Zheng”), aged 57, is the production
and operation director of the Group. Mr. Zheng joined the Group as a
sales representative in 1990. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for
a mechanical engineering company in Zhuhai and responsible for the
mechanical maintenance for more than five years. Mr. Zheng finished
his secondary education in 1987. Mr. Zheng currently is responsible for
planning and operating matters in terms of production.

Mr. Yang Chih Ming (“Mr. Yang Chih Ming”), aged 53, is the chief
financial officer of the Group and is responsible for overseeing the finance
and accounting operations and taxation and compliance matters of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group in September 2019, Mr. Yang Chih Ming
had more than 30 years’ finance and accounting working experience
and worked for a former group company as a chief financial officer for
over 5 years. Mr. Yang Chih Ming obtained a Bachelor degree (Honors)
in Science from National Chiao Tung University in 1989 and a Master
of Professional Accounting from Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics in 2001.

Mr. Wu Xiang Ming (“Mr. Wu”), aged 51, is the technical director of
research and development of the Group responsible for the establishment
and implementation of the research and development plan in accordance
with the requirements of the customers of the Group and the market.
He is also responsible for the general management of the research and
development team of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in 2007,
Mr. Wu had more than 12 years’ research and development working
experience. He was a research and development manager of a Hong
Kong based chemical science company for seven years. Mr. Wu
graduated from FEHIE T KE (East China University of Science and
Technology) (formerly known as %5 {k T2t (East China Institute of
Science and Technology)) in 1990 with a bachelor degree in engineering
and obtained a master degree of engineering from Zhejiang University
in 1996.
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Mr. Zhong Xuan Feng (“Mr. Zhong”), aged 50, is the director of
human resources and information technology departments of the Group
responsible for diverse range of human resources activities of the Group
including recruitment, compensation and benefits, staff training and
employee relationship management. Apart from human resources, he is
also responsible for the development of information technology platform
to support the operation of the Group in accordance with development
needs. Mr. Zhong joined the Group in 1998. He had 6 years’ experience
of accounting. He was a head of accounting department of an investment
company. In 2006, Mr. Zhong was sponsored by the Group to study in
Hong Kong, and obtained a master degree in business administration
from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2008.

Mr. Shum Hoi Luen (“Mr. Shum”), aged 45, joined our Group in
April 2018 and was appointed as the Company Secretary in May 2018.
Mr. Shum is also the financial controller of the Company and is mainly
responsible for company secretarial affairs, corporate governance and
corporate finance of the Group. Mr. Shum obtained a Bachelor of degree
(Honors) in Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) and Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. He is also a professional member of Hong Kong Institute
of Human Resource Management, a full member of Hong Kong Public
Relations Professionals’ Association Limited, an associate and a certified
tax adviser of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Shum is also
currently the company secretary of Superland Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 368), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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The Directors present their annual report together with the audited
financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
30 September 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is a Hong Kong-based investment holding company. The
principal activities and other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and review on the business activities of the Group
as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), including a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 5 to 10 of this
annual report. These discussions form part of the Report of the Directors.
In addition, details of the Group’s financial risk management are disclosed
in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
AND RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

The Group is committed to environmental protection and safety usage
of chemical products.

Environmental policies have been adopted by the Group for
implementation of environmentally friendly measures and practices in the
operation of the Group’s businesses. The Group has also reviewed its
environmental policies and performance from time to time in order to
minimise the environmental impacts from our business operations.

The Group is committed to providing an equal opportunities, a
harmonious and diversified working environment to our employees.

The Group maintains active relationship with our customers in the
industry to explore potential business opportunities and is highly

committed to delivering premium and quality products to our customers.

The Group maintains a list of approved suppliers (based on their prices,
quality, past performance and capacity).

During the year, there was no material dispute or argument between the
Group and its employees, suppliers and customers.
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Further discussion and review on the environmental policies and
performance and relationship with employees, suppliers and customers
of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), can be found in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report set out on pages 24 to 38 of this annual
report. This discussion forms part of this Report of the Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to commit to complying with the relevant laws
and regulations, such as the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands, the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing
Rules and other relevant laws and regulations. So far as the Board is
concerned, there were no material breaches of or non-compliance with
the relevant rules and regulations by our Group that have significant
impacts on the business and operations of our Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 11 to 23.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2020 and
the Group’s financial position as at 30 September 2020 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 154.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK5.2 cents per ordinary share to the Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Thursday, 25 February
2021 (subject to approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on Monday, 22 February 2021) for the year
ended 30 September 2020 (2019: HK5.2 cents).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on page 155 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s authorised or issued share
capital during the year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE OPTIONS

Share option scheme
The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 July 2010 (the
“2010 Share Option Scheme”) which was expired on 22 July 2020.

Save for the 2010 Share Option Scheme disclosed above and note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year ended 30 September 2020 or subsisted at
the end of the year ended 30 September 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised),
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

In March 2020, the Company repurchased and cancelled a total of
17,424,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above and note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, during the year ended 30 September 2020, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any
other listed securities of the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 September 2020, calculated
under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised), of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
HK$125,568,000 (2019: approximately HK$176,996,000). The share
premium account of the Company is available for distribution or paying
dividends to the Shareholders subject to the provisions of the Articles
and provided that immediately following the distribution or the payment
of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts immediately as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 45% of the Group’s total revenue and sales to the
largest customer accounted for approximately 27% of the Group’s total
revenue during the year ended 30 September 2020.
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The aggregate purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 42% of the Group’s total purchases and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately 11% of
the Group’s total purchases during the year ended 30 September 2020.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the shares of
the Company) had any interests in the five largest customers or suppliers
of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. leong Un (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ip Chin Wing

Mr. Ip Ka Lun

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George

Mr. Simon Luk

Mr. Tong Hing Wah

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. leong Un, being an
executive Director, and Mr. Simon Luk and Mr. Tong Hing Wah, both being
independent non-executive Directors, will retire from office by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. Being eligible, each of them will
offer himself for re-election as an executive Director or an independent
non-executive Director (as the case may be) at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all of its independent
non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines as set out under the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

There has been no information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical information of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section of “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 39 to 43 of the annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to Shareholders’ approval at
the general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and
the results of the Group. Details of the remuneration of the Directors
for the year ended 30 September 2020 are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Under the Articles, the Company had a permitted indemnity provision
(as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout
the year and as at the date of approval of this Report of the Directors,
pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any
liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection
with any legal proceedings in which he is involved by reason of being a
Director, and in which the judgement is given in his favour or in which he
is acquitted. The Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
and officers arising out of corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section of “Continuing Connected Transactions”
in the Report of the Directors and “Related Party Transactions” in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements, no Director nor a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which the holding company of the Company,
or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 30 September 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report, none of the Directors or their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’ Interests in the Company and Associated
Corporation

As at 30 September 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

(i) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

i3
EERAQRTRMAB ZENEE

RZZE_ZTFNA=1TH EFELARARE
HECAE (EE LBESF M BMERAIEXVER &R
- HERORESFTHREEARBEESIHE
{5 B 535216 5T A 7% 16k FT 48 B9 & RC it A S AR 3%
BETAHBEMEGARNA MR HELD MORE
LINE

) RAQXAEBEROHFR

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Capacity shares held Position shareholding
BEEpR 513 FisRBEE B2 BOKRES L
Mr. leong Un (Note) Interest in controlled corporation 342,500,000 Long 60.80%
150 5 A (B 1) R EGEE R e
Mr. leong Un (Note) Beneficial owner 78,818,769 Long 13.99%
15 0 52 A (Fff 5%) BEHEAA e

Note: 342,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) are held by All
Reach Investments Limited (“All Reach”), the entire issued share capital of
which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. leong Un. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. leong Un is deemed to be interested in 342,500,000 Shares held by All
Reach.

(i) Long position in the ordinary shares of associated
corporation

Name of associated

i 3E© 7 A §1342,500,0000% & @ A% ([B& 421) B Al
Reach Investments Limited ([All Reach]) #
 HE2HEBRTRABBHEEEEE S
BE - BEEFRPEGRL - HHEEHRS
A ANl Reach 5 A #342,500,000 0% % 15 & #E
B o

Approximate

percentage of

Number of shares shareholding in
in the associated the associated

corporation Name of Director Capacity Position corporation corporation

R BEE A A8 Bk 5 B B9

HEEE BB EEpR 51 R Rz &AE MaBsRaES
All Reach Mr. leong Un Beneficial owner Long 200 100%
All Reach 15 i 55 & =R A A

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO or required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
COMPANY

INTERESTS IN THE

TERRRARR 2 Ea®

As at 30 September 2020, the following interests and short positons of RZZ-_ZTFNA= JrEl LA PA IR 17 B 48 8 M
5% or more of the Shares and underlying Shares were recorded in the  95%8k A £ 2 #%5 BK B B RSN AR BB &
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to & % & 81 & (& TﬁU%SSGf BEGFzEmELM
section 336 of the SFO: A
Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares held Position shareholding
BREE 515 FiisRAEBE BE BABEES T
All Reach (Note 1) Beneficial owner 342,500,000 Long 60.80%
All Reach (Bt 511) BEHBERAA S
Chan Sut Kuan (“Mrs. leong”) (Notes 1 and 2) Interest of spouse 421,318,769 Long 74.79%
BREZ (HBAKD(HFE1R2) Bic 4% # 2 S
Notes: B &
1. All Reach is directly, wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. leong Un. By virtue of the 1. All ReachE G EEH L EE=ES - BREEHK

SFO, Mr. leong Un, an executive Director, is deemed to be interested in the entire
342,500,000 Shares held by All Reach. The total interests beneficially held by Mr.
leong Un are 78,818,769 Shares. Mrs. leong is the spouse of Mr. leong Un and is
therefore deemed to be interested in 421,318,769 Shares held by Mr. leong Un.

2. According to the laws of Macau, the regime of matrimonial property of Mr. leong Un
and Mrs. leong is community (3£ & & 2 $1).

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2020, no person, other
than the Directors, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’
Interests in the Company and Associated Corporation” above, had
registered an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section of “Share Options” and “Disclosure of
Interests” in this report, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of material related party transactions is disclosed in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements. The transactions for the
two years ended 30 September 2020 and 2019 constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Group that are fully exempted from
independent Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the year ended 30 September 2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules during the year ended
30 September 2020 and up to the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere in this annual report, there have been no
other material events occurring after the reporting period and up to the
date of this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting (the “2020 AGM”) of the Company for the
year ended 30 September 2020 is scheduled to be held on Monday,
22 February 2021. A notice convening the 2020 AGM will be issued and
disseminated to the Shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
17 February 2021 to Monday, 22 February 2021, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of Shares shall be effected. In order
to qualify for the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
2020 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 16 February 2021.
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EEEHRE

For determining the entitlement of the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will also be closed from Friday,
26 February 2021 to Monday, 1 March 2021, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 25 February
2021.

References to time and dates in this annual report are to Hong Kong
time and dates.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 September
2020 have been audited by RSM Hong Kong, who will retire at the 2020
AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong as auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the 2020 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Ip Ka Lun
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 December 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INFINITY DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Infinity
Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 154, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30
September 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

F+85225987230

RSM
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RSM Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,

A ESFER
AREZFHENEESNERAHER LAY
HAMBRATEREENTH BENEZX
ERSAVHRRPEEMFFEM UK
BER OMIASRUEIFTHRERERER -

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BRERSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESYHHARERSENEER S ZE

Valuation of investment properties

REYFEIGE

Refer to note 7 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHREMBHRMETRIT7

Management estimated the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties to be HK$69,100,000 as at 30
September 2020 with a revaluation loss of HK$5,100,000
for the year ended 30 September 2020 recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Independent external
valuations were obtained in order to support management’s
estimates. The valuations are dependent on certain key
assumptions that require significant management judgments
including the adjustment factors used on comparable
properties. These adjustment factors were either based on
public published data or substantially unchanged since 30
September 2019.

EREMRS ESENREVER-_Z_ZFAA=+RHZ
A F{E 769,100,000 T  WREGERARFSFEHE_T -
TFENA=THIEFENEMHEIERS5,100000% T - & #EE
BN EENFEREN MG - hEAFBAEEEFED
BRABHNE TEARS  BEAELBRYEMKBNFEE
HE - ZEREBERZDEARLAATIEHEBEXIRE_Z—NF
NA=THRERERTE -

054

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

EEREREENREMELEMETNREFEE:

— Assessing the external valuer’'s qualifications,
experience and expertise and considering their
objectivity and independence;

—  FAENEEREBEIMER  CRRBEXMNBILEER
SErEBMERBIIE:

— Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the property industry; and

— ERETSHEWETENTE TR B M RE
REBROEZM: &

—  Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

— RWMEREEREMKAEASBNERE RIEH
M o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

056  Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 5 % E = AR A 7
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR S

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR &

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Kong Wang.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 December 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

= A4S 3L
Fn = (=i

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

2020 2019
—E-2F —nF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 2 FExT FET
Revenue Y = 8 543,968 691,750
Cost of goods sold 5 & A A (353,315) (463,490
Gross profit ER 190,653 228,260
Other income EH g A 9 4,778 4,421
Changes in fair value of investment KEMELNTEE
properties (5,100) 1,000
Other gains and losses HEiblzm Rk EiE 10 (1,471) 1,770
Selling and distribution costs THE KoK A (47,193) (62,248)
Administrative expenses THEA (78,186) (102,886)
Profit from operations BEFRBER 63,481 70,317
Finance costs A& B A (703) (722)
Share of (loss)/profit of an associate JEAEE & NG (B18),/ & 23 (1,391) 311
Impairment loss of investment in an B NRIRERERRE
associate 23 (1,500) —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE B AR W - 4,213
Profit before tax B %% B0 35 59,887 74,119
Income tax expense Fr 15 84 5 32 11 (3,869) (8,084)
Profit for the year FREN 12 56,018 66,035
Earnings per share BRAEF 16
— Basic — B HK9.79 cents HK10.92 cents
9.79i& 1l 10.92 78 1l
— Diluted — #E Not applicable Not applicable

TER

Gl
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeBEmREMEERER

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

2020 2019
—E2-2F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#&xT FAT
Profit for the year FREF 56,018 66,035
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2wk
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AJFEB X H B Ez 2 HH -
Exchange differences on translating foreign MEBINEBEEZIELZHE
operations 2,599 (2,379)
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or HEMBRARKEFT D EEERZ
loss on disposal of subsidiaries PE o = %8 - 322
Other comprehensive income for the year, EREMEE IS - R BIIE
net of tax 2,599 (2,057)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAZHEIKZS B 58,617 63,978
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE B AR R &
At 30 September 2020
RZEZTFNAA=TH

2020 2019
—E-EFE —E-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M5t Fi#BxT FET
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment properties "EME 17 69,100 74,200
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 18 104,960 111,992
Prepaid land lease payments FEN L HHEER 19 - 11,350
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 20 16,188 —
Intangible assets BmEEE 21 1,888 1,934
Investment in associates REE REINIRE 23 4,252 7,143
Club debentures GHEES 1,080 1,080
Deposits for acquisition of property, WEE 2 - MR LR ER
plant and equipment TAMiES 152 32
Total non-current assets ERENEELEE 197,620 207,731
Current assets mBEE
Inventories FE 24 38,564 66,386
Trade, bills and other receivables ZOBKER  BREER
H fth i W 5178 25 169,819 170,461
Prepaid land lease payments AL E K 19 - 400
Restricted bank deposits ZRHRITFE R 26 6,725 13,101
Bank and cash balances RITRIR S R 26 179,080 75,485
Total current assets MEBEELRE 394,188 325,833
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade, bills and other payables BRNER BNEER
H At & 1< 5K IE 27 101,409 93,428
Amount due to a related company JEf— B E AR FRIA 28 - 4,898
Lease liabilities HERE 29 1,652 —
Bank loans RITE XK 30 33,880 —
Current tax liabilities BEAFE B B & 16,945 12,430
Total current liabilities REBEELE 153,886 110,756
Net current assets MBEEFRE 240,302 215,077
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR &

At 30 September 2020
RZZEZZTFNAAR=TH

2020 2019

—EZEF —E-AF

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

B 5% FExT F&TT

Total assets less current liabilities 2 ZERASEE 437,922 422,808
Non-current liabilities knBEaE

Lease liabilities HEBE 29 3,216 -

Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEEE 31 12,327 13,827

Total non-current liabilities knBHEaEEE 15,543 13,827

Net assets BEEZRHE 422,379 408,981
Capital and reserves BAXRGE

Share capital & 7 32 5,634 5,808

Reserves 15 416,745 403,173

Total equity s 422,379 408,981

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 December 2020 and signed CER - T -_ZEF+-_A-+=HEZESH A

on its behalf by: WHTHNEEREREE:
Ip Chin Wing Ip Ka Lun
ER&E EEM®
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BE =

g 2Z

SAERER

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

Foreign
Capital Share-based currency Statutory
Share Share  Treasury redemption Special payments  translation surplus  Retained
capital  premium shares reserve reserve reserve reserve Legal reserve reserve fund profits Total
EXERE MRAHR HEESR EERR
Bx  RAEE EERG E  RRRE <HERG -1 EERfE ftEe  REEA A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TAL TAL TEL TAL
(Note 34(0)i) (Note 34(b)(i) (Note 34(b)i) (Note 34(b)iv) ~ (Note 34(b)v)
(HrsEsam)n) (PR E34o)i) (P E34i) (M zE34)iv) (B E34(0)w)
At 1 October 2018 W=Z-/\E+A—-H 6,153 164,609 - 338 1,097 4,997 (23,684) 600 2,880 234,111 391,101
Adjustment on initial application &R EBEBHEHE
of HKFRS 9 ERIER 2 HE - - - - - - - - - (4,660) (4,660)
Restated balance at WZE-/\E+A-H
1 October 2018 ZETIH 6153 164,609 - 338 1,007 4,997 (23,684) 600 2880 229451 386,441
Total comprehensive income ~ FA2ERALE
for the year - - - - - - (2,057) - - 66,035 63,978
Repurchases of shares (Note 32) BB I 17 (Mt &£32) - - (25,833) - - - - - - - (25,833)
Cancellation of shares FHEESD (345) (25,833) 25,833 345 - - - - - - -
Dividends paid (Note 15) B8 (K F5) - - - - - - - - - (15,605) (15,605)
Transfer upon disposal of LENBARER
subsidiaries - - - - - - - (97) (66) 163 -
Transfer upon lapse of BERELTEES
share options - - - - - (4,997) - - - 4,997 -
Changes in equity for the year ~ FREZEE (345) (25,833) - 345 - (4,997) (2,0867) (97) (66) 55,590 22,540
At 30 September 2019 WZE-NENA=TH 5,808 138,776 - 683 1,097 - (25,741) 503 2,814 285,041 408,981
At 1 October 2019 W=E-nE+E—H 5,808 138,776 - 683 1,097 - (25,741) 503 2,814 285,041 408,981
Total comprehensive income FREENEEE
for the year - - - - - - 2,599 - - 56,018 58,617
Repurchases of shares (Note 32) [ {7 (Bt :£32) - - (15,019) - - - - - - - (15,019)
Cancellation of shares HHERA (174)  (15,019) 15,019 174 - - - - - - -
Dividends paid (Note 15) B RS (H15) - - - - - - - - - (30,200 (30,200)
Changes n equity for the year ~ EREXEH (174)  (15,019) - 174 - - 2,599 - - 25,818 13,398
At 30 September 2020 WZZZTENRA=TH 5,634 123,757 - 857 1,097 - (23,142) 503 2,814 310,859 422,379
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERTMNER

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

2020 2019
—E2-EF —E-NF
Note HK$ 000 HK$’000
B 5 T#&T T T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFHEENHRELRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B B B g2 59,887 74,119
Adjustments for: AT FEE
Interest income FEMA (1,115) (772)
Finance costs B & Bk A 703 722
Amortisation of intangible assets | B E 43 43
Amortisation of prepaid lease TP TR A ERKIE
payments on land use rights B8 - 399
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE 2,414 -
Depreciation on property, WM HWEREEITE
plant and equipment 12,883 12,057
Allowances for inventories Téﬁ%ﬂ% 3,130 3,553
Allowances for trade, bills and BSREBENR - BRERR
other receivables, net H b JlE I 3 15?5“1%%% 2,192 4,000
Share of loss/(profit) of an associate FEAG— B = QR E5IE
(& A 1,391 (811)
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - HERERE W E
plant and equipment - (14)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZW = 36(a) - (4,213)
Gain on termination of a lease contract & IFFHEAH 2 W (18) -
Written off of property, L XN R
plant and equipment 80 51
Impairment losses of intangible mEEAERBEREE
assets - 600
Impairment loss of investment in an By QAR EREBE
associate 1,500 -
Changes in fair value of investment BREMERNTHE
properties 5,100 (1,000)
Operating profit before LEESEHATNEEET
working capital changes 88,190 89,234
Decrease in inventories FERL 24,692 241
Increase in trade, bills and ZIREN - BINER K
other receivables H\ & U SR TE 3 N (2,024) (21,210)
Increase in trade, bills and F‘&Cﬁﬁﬁt FERZEE K
other payables 3 \ﬁﬂﬁgﬁ RIE I8 0 7,981 18,482
Cash generated from operations REXEFFRE 118,839 86,747
Income taxes paid BT SR (908) (1,571)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABEMNBRX (152) —
Net cash generated from operating KEEBMEREFE
activities 117,779 85,176
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Note HK$°000 HK$’'000
M5t Fi#BxT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHEENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 U B 1,115 772
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE  #BENEE
equipment (4,870) (12,681)
Deposits paid on acquisition of WEEYI % - WMBERZHR
property, plant and equipment I KES (152) (32)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  #MEREREZ
plant and equipment Fr 15 I8 13 33
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QA 36(a) - 13,341
Increase in time deposits with =B AN LW R —F AT E
maturities of over three months but 2 TE HATF 5R38 i
less than one year (16,481) -
Decrease/(increase) of restricted bank R HI$R 1T E ZUR 4
deposits (3% h0) 6,376 (121)
Net cash (used in)/generated from WEES(FTA) /3R eFH
investing activities (13,999) 1,312
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEETHELENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of shares o] B A% 15 32 (15,019) (25,833)
Finance costs paid BT B & PR AR (551) (722)
Dividends paid AR B 15 (30,200) (15,605)
Changes in amount due to a related  JEff—RBEE AR Z RIBE )
company (4,898) (2,435)
Inception of bank loans FTIZRITE 45,588 —
Repayment of bank loans EEETER (11,708) (36,654)
Principal elements of lease payments &I 2 &K% &5 (1,549) —
Net cash used in financing activities mEEBTAER S FE (18,337) (81,249)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH R RHEESSEYIEMESR
EQUIVALENTS 85,443 5,239
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE /MM ERZFHNFZE
RATE CHANGES 1,671 (1,828)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT £#IR&RRLZEEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 75,485 72,074
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT £XBEERRLEEY
END OF YEAR 162,599 75,485
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH ReERAZB/BYIIT
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances IRITRIR & &% 179,080 75,485
Less: Time deposits with maturities of & : =18 A £ A —F AT
over three months but less than FHZ EHER
one year 26 (16,481) —
162,599 75,485
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AR M R

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

066

GENERAL INFORMATION

Infinity Development Holding Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of its registered office is Second Floor, Century Yard,
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand Cayman KY1-1103, Cayman
Islands. The addresses of its principal place of business in Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (‘Hong Kong”) and Macao
Special Administrative Region (“Macau”), the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) are Units 2201-2202, 22/F., Alliance Building,
133 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong and 16 Andar A-D,
Macau Finance Centre, No. 202A-246 Rua de Pequim, Macau,
respectively. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), All
Reach Investments Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands, is the immediate and the ultimate parent and Mr.
leong Un is the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 3 2 & 15 G R A &)

— AR
ERFEEREBRAR(ARRAD R —ME
RASHESFMKIHWERAR -« H5F
fffh 3% =5 5 Hb tiF & Second  Floor, Century
Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand
Cayman KY1-1103, Cayman Islands > &
FERZEARLME ((HRE ] EAERFRITER
=(T&BDMRFMFITHE(RMD
FTELEMBORE B THEBEPI3HR
WA= R E2212201-2202% KR PIFT A F
b R E7202A-2465% R P & B P 1612 A-
DE - RRFINBRONEEBHEZXIAE
BRG] ([HESERD) =R =7 o

ARBR—HREZERAT  EXENE
REANMTEXBHNGEE M BRRME
22 °

RARAREE(TEZEDR A Al Reach
Investments Limited (—ARERBREXZES
AR AT BARBNEE R &K
HAF - BT E BARAR B &ELIES
E o

m BB A
ZEERAVBRRIBREFESFMQ
S EREHMAT)EGOMEERE
AU BREEN((EBMBREER DR
o BBUKRSERNBRRB BV R
SEA(EBMBRELEA)  FE 25
EH((EBEHEDERE - ZFHA
BRI EBXMEZFLTRATE
WA HE BB R BB REED
(FERE)MBEMRTE - AnE R EK B
AR (G AR IRA 2 EESFTH
R TXHEE -

EREMASERME TRAKEER
S AT HITE B R A sk R A 4R B BR AR RO T
RIRREBEEMBREER - REAK
BESHE  AHEENERZFER
SEAHCBERMEM G HRETME
BrEHERRRZEFFAMBRERST
I &7 M FE3A e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B R AR M AR

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16 “Leases”,
and a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, none of the developments have had
a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been prepared
or presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 supersedes HKAS 17 “Leases”, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 “Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease”, HK(SIC) — Int 15 “Operating
Leases — Incentives” and HK(SIC) — Int 27 “Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease”. HKFRS 16 introduced a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets.

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify
leases as either operating leases or finance leases using
similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did
not have an impact on leases where the Group is the lessor.
The lessor accounting requirements are brought forward from
HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(a)

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 3 2 & 15 G R A &)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to assess the effect that
leases have impact on the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 October
2019. The Group has elected to use the modified
retrospective approach and has therefore recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity at 1 October 2019. Comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes
to previous accounting policies and the transition options
applied are set out below:

(@) New definition of a lease
The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates
to the concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease
on the basis of whether a customer controls the use
of an identified asset for a period of time, which may
be determined by a defined amount of use. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in
HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered into
on or after 1 October 2019. For contracts entered
into before 1 October 2019, the Group has used the
transitional practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements
are or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that
were previously assessed as leases under HKAS 17
continue to be accounted for as leases under HKFRS
16 and contracts previously assessed as non-lease
service arrangements continue to be accounted for as
executory contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B R AR M AR

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) FEFH%E‘T&..\:VETE%Mi%iE
(Continued) HERI(4])
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) EEMKHELERF16RKIEE]
(4)

®)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance
leases, as was previously required by HKAS 17. Instead,
the Group is required to capitalise all leases when it
is the lessee, including leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, other than those
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets which
are exempt.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the Group
has applied the incremental borrowing rates of the
relevant group entities at the date of initial application.
The average incremental borrowing rates applied by the
relevant group entities range from approximately 0.78%
to 3.29%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied
the following recognition exemption and practical
expedients at the date of initial application of HKFRS
16:

(i) elected not to apply the requirements of HKFRS
16 in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets to leases for which the
remaining lease term ends within 12 months
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,

(b) FABANETEERBEZE
FRM % HREERF165EBUR
ZAIE G S AR ST 5 DA
HABHEHESBAKEHEX
MEMENKTE - R - A%
B{ERAMEAR - BERLHRT
EHEBRBLTAIRETLES
STERETROBAKEHRE
MWEE) MHERHEEREE
BEEEHERAEHS -

RIERCADEACERERN
HENHEAER A£EE
JERREXERBHEREE
EENIZEERFE - HESE
EEEAERAN TG EER
FIEAN F40.78%2=3.29% °

RTBBREEEBHMBGREE
AIFE165%  AEBERERER
FRMBHRELERFI6HER
R T ERH R ERER
A

i) HRFBEHAREFLE
BEBYHREENS
1657 & B B 511218 A ;N
Em(BNHEBER = =F
FRA=+AH=Zr1E

i.e. where the lease term ends on or before 30 WMMHE  EETERS
September 2020; BEU B HmELEDF6
TR TEREEES

(i) excluded initial direct costs from measuring

BEMERAEEE:
(i) MNEREABHAERE

the right-of-use assets at the date of initial AEEERMKRVGEE
application; and BERA &

(i)  relied on the assessment of whether leases
are onerous by applying HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” as

(iy FEREBEFENFET
RIS - sRARBE MK
REE MERBRBERTH

an alternative to an impairment review. BERAE AHEER
LEEE -
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070

E_T_TEAASTRALERE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. M el RIEIERT 2B AW
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued) e £ (&)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) ERIITREETEBNEH
(Continued) HERI(48)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) EENBHREELFE16KIHE]
(#&)
(b)  Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued) ) FEEAGHTEERBEZE
(%)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing R EASERAERAEEE
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use MEAHERBENHER ST
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first BERIEmMS  AEBEELE
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to ERIEIREE HRER SRR
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities. EEHEARE-
For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions RMEHNAEARNEEAGZ
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies % %?&%ﬁﬁ? AEBBHEFB
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use R FE1295 BB IR
assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary /”a'J ERREREEERME
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease %E\% o EHFE FR )20 B SR R
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and ® BRAGAEEEIEER
over the lease terms due to application of the initial B E R ZRIW KRR YR
recognition exemption. BRAHEBRER -
The following table reconciles the operating lease THREINRZZE-—NFLA=
commitments as disclosed in note 38 as at 30 B FEI8FTIR R 2 8
September 2019 to the opening balance for lease HEREER=ZZT—-NFT+H
liabilities recognised as at 1 October 2019: —HRRZEEBENEILE
BRETER
HK$’000
FAET
Operating lease commitments disclosed RZZE-—NFNA=THEHERZ
as at 30 September 2019 Fed **T & E 8,256
Less: commitments relating to leases B EReERNME 2 HE
exempted from capitalisation: S %%‘_i )
— short-term leases and other leases — EHHEERFSREHRR
with remaining lease term ends —T_TFNAA=TH
on or before 30 September 2020 S AIfEmZ S (243)
— effect of value-added tax — EERNEE (497)
7,516
Less: total future interest expenses B BIEF B S A% (398)
Present value of remaining lease payments, BT HEENZTMA
discounted using the incremental borrowing —T-NFtA-HZ
rates as at 1 October 2019 EEEHRFERE Z2HE 7,118
Of which are: Hep:
Current lease liabilities REBHEEAE 1,727
Non-current lease liabilities EREBEEEE 5,391
7118
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B R AR M AR

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

S RRIETTZE BT

=]
/\‘/E\)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (@) ERAFIRLZEITITENEIR
(Continued) HERI(4])
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) EEMKHELERF16RKIEE]
(#&)
(b)  Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued) b) FEEAGHTEERBEZE
(%)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognised
at an amount equal to the amount recognised for the
remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
that lease recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at 30 September 2019.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

So far as the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16
on leases previously classified as finance leases is
concerned, the Group is not required to make any
adjustments at the date of initial application of HKFRS
16, other than changing the captions for the balances.
Accordingly, the depreciated carrying amount of the
corresponding leased assets is identified as right-of-use
assets. There is no impact on the opening balance of
equity.

RN BEAREHEZHEMN
REMEEECIRBESINET
HERBWNEEREEZEH
BR IHER-_Z-NFH
A=1TBZ&a M R
RZBEBBIEMENHEE
MEMNREBETHE

ENAROBAEZSRIERE
M HEEANFESR ISR TA]
AR PR AFERE - R
M EREH R EOFER
B R ERINEE NI FTALE A
BEEMRAK -

HREAEBRHHREERE
165 A TR D M RREHERN
HENTE  AEERENA
FREsAEIN  BARTEY
% 5 2RI F165% &) 7R E
HEE TR - Fit -
EHEEEMNKTERmES
AREREEE - BV D
BRI EMZE -
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(a)

(Continued)

®)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. M el RIEIERT 2B AW
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued) s 2R (4
Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) ERIITREETEBNEH
HERI(48)
(=] —I—r\ "
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) EEMKEHEERF16RHIEE]
(48)
Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued) ) FEEAGHTEERBEZE
(%)
The following table summarises the impacts of the TR MENE BT EREE
adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated BIZE165% H AR E B4R & B 55K
statement of financial position: MEZTE
Effects of adoption of HKFRS 16
RATRUBEREEAF R 2T E
Line items in the consolidated Carrying Carrying
statement of financial position ZFAEBH KR E amount as at amount as at
impacted by the adoption of #8163 % 30 September Recognition 1 October
HKFRS 16 GEMBMRRERER 2019 Reclassification of leases 2019
R-B-h#F R=B-h#F
AB=+H +HA—H
ZREE ENANE HERD ZREE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
5 T T T FHT
Assets BE
Right-of-use assets FTREEE - 12,224 7118 19,342
Prepaid land lease payments BN L ER (i) 11,750 (11,750) - -
Trade, bills and other BHRMERT - Bl
receivables SEREMBKFE (i) 474 (474) - —
Liabilities a8
Lease liabilities HEEE - - 7118 7118
Notes: B &

(i

Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC and the
Socialist Republic of Vietnam (“Vietnam”) were classified as
prepaid land lease payments as at 30 September 2019. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the current and non-current portion
of prepaid land lease payments amounting to approximately
HK$400,000 and HK$11,350,000 respectively were classified
to right-of-use assets.

Upfront payments for leased properties in the Republic of
Indonesia (“Indonesia”) were included in trade, bills and other
receivables as at 30 September 2019. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, the trade, bills and other receivables amounting
to approximately HK$474,000 was classified to right-of-use
assets.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

(a)

©

@

Impact of the financial results and cash flows of the
Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities as at 1 October 2019, the Group as
a lessee is required to recognise interest expense
accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability,
and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead
of the previous policy of recognising rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. This resulted in no material impact
on the reported profit from operations in the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss, as compared
to the results if HKAS 17 had been applied during the
year.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
Group as a lessee is required to split rentals paid
under capitalised leases into their principal element
and interest element. These elements are classified
as cash flows from financing activities and cash flows
from operating activities respectively. Although total
cash flows are unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16
therefore results in a significant change in presentation
of cash flows within the consolidated statement of cash
flows.

Leasehold investment property

Under HKFRS 16, the Group is required to account
for all leasehold properties as investment properties
when these properties are held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. The adoption of
HKFRS 16 does not have a significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group
previously elected to apply HKAS 40 “Investment
Property” to account for all of its leasehold properties
that were held for investment purposes as at 30
September 2019. Consequentially, these leasehold
investment properties continue to be carried at fair
value.
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3.

074

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG RAFNE] MIEIER] 2 BB 55
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued) wEER (&
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b) EEMERRERZHITRE

effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 October 2019. These new and revised
HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant to the
Group.

BT ERMBREEL
AEEBYERFEAEHEMERS
T-NEFTA-HRBZVRFER
RERZHFT REIET BB R
HFEA o ZFHET REETREY
BREEREEATAERREE
BRAER -

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTHEH 2%
a2 B HIREN

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition of a Business”

EREVMHHRELENEIR ZETNZHZTEE]

1 January 2020
—E-EF—-H—H

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

BEAGERFIRREASEAESR 2EI[ERZEE]

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 1"

BEEVBmEENZFENR BESHERFIORRE BB ELIFETIR 2(EF]
[FREENE —-F—[HER

Amendments to HKFRS 16 “COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions”

B A HE LR E165% 2185 [COVID-19MH 1 & 8 &

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2”

BB BHRERNEIR BB LT REUNFEIORLE B HEREELNETR - BEMB
WMELERBLIR LB BN B RELENFE16R ST [ M EREERE-F B

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual Framework”

BEEMBHREEAEIR2IEET I ER 243

Amendments to HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use”

BEEGFERNEI6R IR [ MERRE—(EBRER S 2 M5 3RE]

Amendments to HKAS 37 “Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract”

BEAGFERENR 2B BEEN-—BITEHN KA

Amendments to HKFRS “Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020"

ERVBRELER 2B BENBREEN -\ FE_Z_ZFRBPZFELE]

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
BEEGHENEIR 2B KAaE > BARE HIERE]

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of the above amendments to HKFRSs is

1 January 2020
L
1 January 2020

—2-FF¥—H—H
1 June 2020
—E-TFERA—H
1 January 2021
—2-—%—H—H
1 January 2022

T _F—H—H
1 January 2022

s =
1 January 2022
Y =
1 January 2022
e =
1 January 2023
—E-=%—AF—H

AREBIEF A Ll E BT B REE
A2 AR ERERAMENE

expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it oSSRt AEERBEMNZ

has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have

FERT R ERTKRAIGEE R &

2=

a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. MBBRREEEATE -
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. investment properties that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 30 September. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has power over
an entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder
has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of subsidiaries that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

BEEGTHR
LEREMBRERDIRELXAE LR
2 ERTXEHBERAAERNRERIN B
WA FEAENKEDE) -

BT AT BB ®EER M HHRE
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FHHOEEEE - THN P RIS EE -
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STERERHSIAT -
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4.

076

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise
or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount
of the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of losses in
an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

in each entity’s

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

4,

EEZSFRERE)

(b)

(c)

Annual Report 2020 | —E =T F F i

BE QT (])
AEERGBEARKBRERR
HiemRaNFaBakEte
T U 2 A R RE AR o fied A 5% [ R 1 B
LRBIBRSFNRXEZNERBER
ANED(ETERTANERBX
AEERBEARKEFENRY
o) AIAKETeE - SHERE
B BRIEEABERARELREX
AR - B2 AR R 85158
Mo AIASREEEEBEZNER
EIEREREEE - T8 REER
HEEBERRAGEAH -

AEBERBENFZERZHK
HEEMUREEREZ QR0
HRBRTIAHE - BRIFERXZIREM
BREEMREERE BRARER
BB T A - B AR &
BREEE VU RHE  UERER
SERANBRER -

SHEEmE

i) ERZINEHR
AEBEETEERBNMHTHRE
PrEfEmIER - HUZEREZ
BENEITEEERENEE (D
EEEW D E - MAMBHRE
TIARRRI N K2 2518 ¥
BILZ25 -

(i) REEBUBEHEROIIR
A BR
RV B R - INEZH TR
RXZEANERBE ST
B - INBEHENEREE
RBEHREREMROER
ETHRE AZBREBRME
Erla kEERBmRER -

AT EE B M AN SHE
IR IR AT A
AMERBRE -

Qr7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 75 R A B o

For the year ended 30 September 2020
T FNA=THIEFE

ma

HE—

4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 3 2 & 15 G R A &)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements (Continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated into
the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates); and

— Al resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and
leasehold land (upon application of HKFRS 16 at 1 October
2019, the interest in leasehold land was reclassified
to “Right-of-use assets”, see note 3), held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress
as described below), are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at costs, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold land Over the term of the lease

Buildings

— office units Over the term of the lease

— factory premises 5%
Furniture and fixtures and

equipment 10%—25%
Leasehold improvements 20%

16%:%-20%
10%-20%

Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

4,
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4.

080

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property
is measured initially at its cost including all direct costs
attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of the investment property are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for
as described in note 4(r).

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. ZEE@:tH K (&)

non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets which,
for the Group are primarily offices, staff quarters and
office equipment. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those leases
which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense
on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(f) Leases (Continued) () HEEE
(i) The Group as a lessee () AEBEEHBEBEA
Policy applicable from 1 October 2019 BZFE—NFEA+H—HEHEF
B
Where the contract contains lease component(s) and WEHEsHEARTS XIE
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4.

082

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 October 2019 (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, except for
the right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 4(e).

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 October 2019 (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment properties and lease
liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Policy prior to 1 October 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group
classified leases as finance leases if the leases
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group. Leases which did not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group were classified as operating leases, except
for the property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property
was classified as investment property on a property-
by-property basis and, if classified.
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084

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Leases (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Policy prior to 1 October 2019 (Continued)

Where the Group acquired the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments, of such assets were
recognised as property, plant and equipment and
the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges,
were recorded as obligations under finance leases.
Depreciation was provided at rates which wrote off the
cost or valuation of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it was likely the Group would
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset.
Finance charges implicit in the lease payments were
charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases so
as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate
of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations
for each accounting period. Contingent rentals were
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they were incurred.

Where the Group had the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
were charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis was more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals
were charged to profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they were incurred.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified
as an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful life are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Intangible asset with indefinite useful
life is not amortised.
(i) Club memberships
For club membership with an indefinite useful life, no
amortisation is charged because the Company has the
contractual right to control over the asset and legal
rights with no definite period. For club membership with
a definite useful life, amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of club
membership over their estimated useful lives of 41 to
44 years.
(i) Formula rights
Formula rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 5 years.
(h) Club debentures
Club debentures with indefinite useful life are stated at costs
less impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or
when there is any indication that the club debentures have
suffered an impairment loss.
(i) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

U]

(m)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into the
following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowances for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the consolidated statement of cash flows. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

(q)
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value-added tax or other sales taxes and
is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have
been shipped to the customers’ specific location (delivery).
Following delivery, the customers have full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, have the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bear
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customers as this represents the point in time
at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as
only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the assets. For
credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net
of loss allowances) of the assets.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights
to receive payment are established.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
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4.

090

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

®

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments
The Group issued equity-settled share-based payments to
certain Directors and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties are
measured based on the expected manner as to how the
properties will be recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Taxation (Continued)

(x)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of
the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used,
or proposed to be use by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in
the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
reviewed for impairment annually and whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of impairment
and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an
expense through the consolidated statement of profit or
loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the
fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

(y)
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Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values
are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset/
cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
pro rata amongst the assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by
changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on trade, bills and other receivables. The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the industries in
which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic
expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies,
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

4,
(v)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no
past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:
— significant financial issuer or the
counterparty;

difficulty of the

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

4,
(v)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade and bills receivables, when the amounts are over 1 year
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the
assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for
financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

()

(aa)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements when material.

4,
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgements that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt

with below).

(@) Split of land and buildings elements

The Group determined that the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements.
Accordingly the entire lease of land and buildings is classified
as a finance lease and included under property, plant and

equipment.

(b) Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the Directors have reviewed the portfolios of the Group’s
investment properties and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are not held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining

the Group’s deferred tax for investment properties,

Directors have adopted the presumption that investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered

through sale.

(c) Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL
for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3
assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable

qualitative and quantitative
forward-looking information.

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 3 2 & 15 G R A &)

5.

BEHE@ N T E A

ERE
RERE
T

st BYSR BY B S IR
AARRBRET  EFEFELMU

GAMBRENEREBLSAY

By H B (EZF S RGO H BRI
HAGNTIXEEHE) -

(a)

(b)

(c)

SR L REFEG

AEBEETHERERER LR
BFHMORASESE - Bt £t
kEFz2HHER P RAREM
BEXWFTAYE  HBERREBEAET -

REVMENELEHE

At ERAFERAGTENKREY
EMEERAMS - EFCEHAN
SENKREMEEAS ARBSAE
BORENXLIFRIEBFTRER
RMFEBLERRELSTRENE
Fream@Rmo BN ZrEE
BAFHE At EEETAKER
BMENELEREAR BEFOHRR
BAFERAAENRENEDE
B g E -

FEEMBEZIEM
EHEEFERFIRREERSERN
R2EABREEEENRESE
ThEE2PE BN EIE R EER 2 A
HEEEENREFE -EERER
(B SRR RS SR Pl
BAFR2EE - AV B HRELERNF
oSk I SRTE W AKE B R I B E 1B
MEER - RFHEENEERR
EEBEENG  AKEEEEAR
BRAASHMENTEE N EEAEME



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B RS R AR M A

For the year ended 30 September 2020

HE—

F-FFAA=TALFR

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as
at 30 September 2020 was approximately HK$104,960,000
(2019: HK$111,992,000).

(b) Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made. During the year, approximately
HK$3,869,000 (2019: HK$8,084,000) of income tax expense
was charged to profit or loss based on the estimated profits.

(c) Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair value of the investment properties. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has utilised a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates. The Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method of
valuation and inputs used are reflective of the current market
conditions.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 30
September 2020 was approximately HK$69,100,000 (2019:
HK$74,200,000).
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade and bills receivables based
on the credit risk of trade and bills receivables. The amount
of the impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where
the future cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a
material impairment loss may arise.

As at 30 September 2020, the carrying amount of trade and
bills receivables was approximately HK$149,934,000 (net of
allowances for doubtful debts of approximately HK$9,241,000)
(2019: HK$154,312,000 (net of allowances for doubtful debts
of approximately HK$6,097,000)).

Allowances for slow-moving inventories and net
realisable value of inventories

Allowances for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowances amount involves judgement
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back

in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer’s taste and competitor’s actions in response to
severe industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates
by the end of each reporting period.

The carrying amount of inventories as at 30 September 2020
was approximately HK$38,564,000 (2019: HK$66,386,000).
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”), Vietham
Dong (“WVND”), Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR”), and United States
dollars (“USD”). The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

At 30 September 2020, if the RMB had weakened 5 per
cent against the USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$39,000 lower (2019: HK$472,000 higher),
arising mainly as a result of the net foreign exchange losses
(2019: gains) on trade and bills receivables and trade, bills
and other payables denominated in USD. If the RMB had
strengthened 5 per cent against the USD with all other
variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for
the year would have been approximately HK$39,000 higher
(2019: HK$472,000 lower), arising mainly as a result of the
net foreign exchange gains (2019: losses) on trade and bills
receivables and trade, bills and other payables denominated
in USD.

At 30 September 2020, if the VND had weakened 5 per
cent against USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$2,928,000 (2019: HK$3,080,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of the net foreign exchange
gains on trade and bills receivables, trade, bills and other
payables and bank loans denominated in USD. If the VND
had strengthened 5 per cent against USD with all other
variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the
year would have been approximately HK$2,928,000 (2019:
HK$3,080,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of the net
foreign exchange losses on trade and bills receivables, trade,
bills and other payables and bank loans denominated in USD.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

At 30 September 2020, if the IDR had weakened 5 per
cent against USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$533,000 (2019: HK$423,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of the net foreign exchange gains
on trade and bills receivables and bank and cash balances
denominated in USD. If the IDR had strengthened 5 per
cent against USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$533,000 (2019: HK$423,000) lower, arising
mainly as a result of the net foreign exchange losses on
trade and bills receivables and bank and cash balances
denominated in USD.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade and
bills receivables) and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign
exchange transactions and other financial instruments.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are
banks and financial institutions with acceptable credit-rating
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade, bills and other receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit
subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures
and control relating to customer credit risk management.
Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade and bills receivables are due within 15-120 days from
the date of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than
3 months past due are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

6. T REREIRGE)

Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERM(E)
Trade, bills and other receivables (Continued) ESEWERR BREERHME
Y 7R IE (48)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade and bills NEFIZERR2EBEHEZEER
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which A EESENERLEKRE
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s BEZEEERE  HEI S RBESE
historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly ETAE R AEFBEAEZEZE
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the EERY AR TRAELDEERE KX
loss allowances based on past due status is not further TEEBEEER  EREEkeE 2B
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases. BRETEE - SIHREAEETETR
FEMZEE—FED o
The following table provides information about the Group’s TEREFIR-_Z_TFR_ZT-NF
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and bills NA=+tHEAKEMEREERR
receivables as at 30 September 2020 and 2019: UEESRERKERRERERZTE
HEEBEZER:
2020
—ECEHF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowances
JEEAB R E REEE EEBE
% HK$°000 HK$°000
% FiE&x T
Current (not past due) BV ER (K 180 A7) 2.49% 128,145 3,192
1-30 days past due # H1Z=30H 4.07% 16,353 666
31-60 days past due i #9312 60H 4.08% 3,184 130
61-90 days past due #HIG1E=90H 4.06% 5,569 226
More than 90 days past due i1 B 8 3390 H 84.86% 5,924 5,027
159,175 9,241
2019
—E-hF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowances
TEERES 1R % FRERE &5 1B
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% FAT FAET
Current (not past due) BN ER (>R %81 AR) 0.09% 110,847 95
1-30 days past due # HI12£30H 0.78% 23,445 182
31-60 days past due # HI31Z260H 1.83% 13,631 249
More than 60 days past due i1 HA 8 i@ 60 A 44.62% 12,486 5,571
160,409 6,097
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HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. LEEREEGE)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERKE)
Trade, bills and other receivables (Continued) ESEWERR BREERHME
W TR IE (48)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over FBHEEBRDENBEFNF(ZZ—
the past 4 (2019: 3) years. These rates are adjusted to reflect NF=F)2ERBEELRED -
differences between economic conditions during the period ZEHReFHARURMRE S &
over which the historical data has been collected, current JES BE 2 HARE 2 B AR O - B AT
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over A OS R 7K £ [E] T pE Uk 38 18 78 B 4F B
the expected lives of the receivables. CREERA B Z2EZR -
Movements in the loss allowances for trade and bills HE-_Z-_ZFR-_T-HAFNLA=
receivables during the two years ended 30 September 2020 THIERMEFE B5EWERR
and 2019 are as follows: JEREBR 2 EEREESHOT :
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 October 2018 RZZE—-N\F+H—H 3,441
Impairment losses recognised for the year FANERZ /DZ EEE 3,000
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBA (344)
At 30 September 2019 and 1 October 2019 EA T-NFLA=ZTHE
—hE+H—H 6,097
Net impairment losses recognised for the year FAWRZBEFEE 3,144
At 30 September 2020 RZEZZEFNA=1H 9,241
The following significant changes in the gross carrying HE_Z-_TFNLA=1THILEFE -
amounts of trade and bills receivables contributed to the %%FEHQEE &FEHAZT}FWEEE
increase in the loss allowances during the year ended 30 BHIR Y EANESHE @(}Eﬁgﬁgﬁ
September 2020: 0
—  origination of new trade and bills receivables net of — B SEWERNERERE
those settled HBRELEERR
All of the Group’s financial instruments at amortised cost are NEFEILBEKANVEZAESH
considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance TEHWEABREERR IR
recognised during the period was therefore limited to BN RE R 7 BB B G E R 2@ B
12-month expected losses. Instruments are considered to TEHEIEE ET A ENRRKE
be low credit risk when they have a low of default and the %ﬁﬁﬁj\ EEESHANBTEASNR S
issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow MERITZERYEHE BIEER
obligations in the near term. RIAZEERBIE -
Financial assets at amortised cost include other receivables. IEHEK AV E s e EERREE
fth & YRR TE o
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. LREREREE)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERM(E)

(c)

Trade, bills and other receivables (Continued)

Movements in the loss allowances for other receivables during
the two years ended 30 September 2020 and 2019 are as

BEIRWERN BUREREME
W 7R IE (48)

BE-Z-_ZHER-_F-NAFLA=
THELEMEFE Eﬁﬂfﬂ&ﬁé R

follows: EBEBEZSHOT:

HK$'000

FHET
At 1 October 2018 RZZE-N\F+H—H 7,059
Impairment losses recognised for the year FRERZBEFE 1,000
Disposal of subsidiaries 1 & B AR (26)
At 30 September 2019 and 1 October 2019 RZZ2-—NLFAA=TERK

—E-F+A—H 8,033

Reversal of impairment losses during the year FRREBERKD (952)
At 30 September 2020 RZEZZEFNA=1H 7,081
Liquidity risk (c) RBELEMK

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

AEENBRRERERBATNE
BRBESFE UBRRELRR
WRTHEE BHEEHLREES
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

6. TLREREIRGE)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) mHELRA(E)
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted AEEFTECRHBEZREL R
cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is REBESRAEMINHASHTAT
as follows:
Less Between Between
On than1 1and2 2and5
demand year years years Total
RERE PR—F —ZREFE MERF Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Financial liabilities SRasE
At 30 September 2020 N-E-ZEHFHA=+H
Trade, bills and other ZEEMNER - ENEZE
payables K B fth jE < 3008 — 101,386 - — 101,386
Lease liabilities (Note 29) 2 & & {& (P 7£29) - 1,764 1,578 1,755 5,097
Bank loans (Note) RITER (M) 30,306 3,889 - - 34,195
30,306 107,039 1,678 1,755 140,678
Financial liabilities eRaE
At 30 September 2019 W-ZE—hAFEhA=+H
Trade, bills and other ZEIREMNER - BREE
payables Re B JE A~ R IE - 93,269 — — 93,269
Amount due to a related BN —RERIE QT B
company 4,898 — — — 4,898
4,898 93,269 — — 98,167
Note: B &

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on
demand” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 September 2020,
the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans amounted
to approximately HK$30,000,000. Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the Directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
Directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid within one year after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows will amount to approximately HK$30,306,000.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate bank deposits and bank loans. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowing at floating rate of interest so as
to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Borrowing Rate
arising from the Group’s HK$ denominated borrowing.

The Group’s restricted bank deposits and time deposits bear
interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to
fair value interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-risk arises from its bank
deposits and bank loans. These deposits and borrowings
bear interests at variable rates that vary with the then
prevailing market condition.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank
deposits and bank loans at the end of the reporting period
and assumed that the amount of assets and liabilities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. 50 basis points (2019: 50
basis points) were used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The management does not anticipate
a decrease in interest rate in the next financial year having
regard to the trends in market interest rates and global
economic environment. Accordingly, sensitivity analysis on a
decrease in interest rates is not presented.

If interest rates on bank deposits and bank loans had
been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points) higher and all
other variables were held constant, the potential effect on
consolidated profit after tax for the year is as follows:

6.

THEEREEE)

(d)

G E:
AEBENRSREN KRR TRHE
FRRITFEARLBITERER - K
SENBRBERLZB N RS
ZAEF - AR AR R R R =
R®IE -

AEEMNRSRENEEREES
RRAEEAE T EMNEREE
MABRITREFRE R -

AEBENZRGETFRARERF
RV EEF RS - BEL ARR
RFEMERER

4 4 T 40 SR AL e T o £ 4R 1T 77
RBTERES - REFRRER
TR E RTINS B T B
2ite o

TXHEHEREIFIRERHFEHR
FHRRITERMBITERO N KR
RET  URENBEHRERE
MHWEERBBESERE/AFEY
REM - AABEEEEREAER
A RERERAS0EER(ZF—
N B0EER) - WWHEEEHE
EREMNEEFHMFE - EEE™
BHNEEBEREREHRE &
BEMTEMBEENFNEAET
A o [ I 2 5 R T Y SRk
ER i

WIRTTERRBITERNFE LA
S501E Z 2 (=T — L& : 501E & 2)
MATE A& ERFTE - AJEFA
HRAEBRBEEINBEZEZNT

2020 2019

—E-EH —ZT-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FH& T

Increase in consolidated profit after tax for the year & MARA K 1% & F 38 o0 5 291
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6.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. REREREE)
(e) Categories of financial instruments e £MITA/NER
2020 2019
—ECEHF ZE-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Financial assets EHMEE
Financial assets measured at amortised cost  IR#EHK At ENSREE 337,653 246,143
Financial liabilities 2HMAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEK AT ENSRARE 135,266 98,167
(f) Fair values ) 2AFE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and HRERBRRAERAMZINNAEE S
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement BEENTRAGENERABERELS
of financial position approximate their respective fair values. BERAFEREE -
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. NY¥EF=E

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.
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N EFEGE)

R-F_F ﬂinﬁl +HEZA¥F
EHERKE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 (a)
September 2020:

Fair value measurements
using Level 3

RN DFEME
E=HRER
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Description i i
Recurring fair value measurements: BREMHEATEME:
Investment properties REME
Office units — Macau WMATEN — B 64,400 69,900
Office units — the PRC WMAEEM — & 4,700 4,300
Total At 69,100 74,200
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b) REF=HEHRRLITEHFTE
based on level 3: ZEEHK:
Investment properties
rREME
2020 2019
—EEHF —E-AE
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET
Description H
At beginning of year REF] 74,200 73,200
Total (losses)/gains recognised in profit or loss ® 18R (E18),/
U 25 4B 5B (5,100) 1,000
At end of year RER 69,100 74,200
® Include (losses)/gains for assets held at end of ®EIEREH KT EE
reporting period 0 (E18) W ek (5,100) 1,000
The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss including REGERNKS X EEBEE
those for assets held at end of reporting period are presented FEHmERARABEEN KR EIEER)
in changes in fair value of investment properties in the DR EERRNIREMELATE
consolidated statement of profit or loss. FEANIR -
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e

= __

—EEAB=THILEE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c)
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Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used
in fair value measurements at 30 September
2020:

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for the
fair value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The chief financial officer reports directly
to the board (the “Board”) of Directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the chief financial officer and the
Board at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform
the valuations.

3 fair value

Key unobservable inputs used in level

measurements are mainly:

- Floor level difference (estimated based on valuation
experts’ in-house database)

—  Size difference (estimated based on actual data)
—  View difference (estimated based on valuation experts’
in-house database)

- Market quote adjustment factor (estimated based on
valuation experts’ in-house database)

- Market vyield (estimated based on valuation experts’
in-house database)

—  Time difference (estimated based on valuation experts’
in-house database)

- Location difference (estimated based on valuation
experts’ in-house database)

7.
(c)

yfﬁnﬂ»i(u“)

R-B-EFNA=1+HBFEE
FiRANGERFRD FER
EFfRANGERTTRS#Z
e

AEENEFNBE B ERY KR
SETHTNEERBBENAFE
AE(BRE=ZRERAFEFE) -
BEVHERLSFAFEFERR
MEES(EEENE®R - AFM

BEREFE® Er\%ﬁ}kéﬁﬁ%ﬁ
'fg%ﬂir&n\ﬂ

RE=—BRERATEFEMS &
SEBRERFABERTEXE
BEATHERMIIBEETRE
TfhfE -

F-MERAFEFEMRANE
ETABER2HIER:

- BEEEERGBEZERA
BUR B 2 fE)

- KPERERERBEZMA
t)

- REREERNBEZERA
%HFEZ%.#)

- MHEHREFHREARERMGE
ﬁ%WﬁB%@FEZﬁhﬂ

- WHREFERGBEERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
T-EEAASTELEEE

HE—

7.

= —=

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
Disclosure of valuation process used by the (c)
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used
in fair value measurements at 30 September

(c)

2020: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements

7. RY¥EFEGE)

m=

B—F

= —=

: (#8)

FNA=+HFXEE

FEANEERFRRFER
ERRANGERTREEZ
WE

F=RERDFEAE

Fair value
DEE
Effect on
fair value for
Valuation Unobservable increase of
Description technique inputs Range inputs 2020 2019
28EmE
g tH{E R i THHEZH #E AFENNRE —T-TF —ZT-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Office units located in  Income approach Floor level difference 0% to 6% Increase 64,400 69,900
Macau (2019: 0% to 3%)
RRFORAZTEN WaE BEZE 0%%6% &
(ZZ—NE: 0%E3%)
Size difference 1.3% to 4.7% Increase
(2019: 0% to 0.8%)
RhEE 1.3%E4.7% M
(ZF—N5F:0%%£0.8%)
View difference 0% Increase
(2019: 0%)
HeE2 0%
(ZZ—NF: 0%)
Market yield 0.5% to 1.7% Decrease
(2019: 1.5% to 1.7%)
35 W e & 05%&E1.7% WD
(ZZ—NF 15%E1.7%)
Time difference 0% Increase
(2019: -4.5% to 0%)
BEZR 0% 3&m
(ZF—NF: -4.5%Z0%)
Market quote -10% Increase
adjustment factor (2019: -10% to 0%)
mSERERAERER -10% 30

(:gjéfj-ti : —10%?0%)
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BE

7.

114

TRCRFEAA=THILEFRE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used
in fair value measurements at 30 September
2020: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

7- qZTEQ+E(I|L\)

—EEFAA=+HEKE
FFEANEERFRRAFEGT
;Fﬁi“’ﬁﬁ MEERTRZEH 2

(c) ®

wE

: (48)

%_.%&EW’WF{EE"I'E(ﬁ)

Fair value
AEE
Effect on
fair value for
Valuation Unobservable increase of
Description technique inputs Range inputs 2020 2019
28EmE
bi:gud h1E F i TUERZY #E AFENFE —T-TF -—ZT-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FET
Office units located in  Income approach Size difference —-7.6% to 6.6% Increase 4,700 4,300
the PRC (2019: ~7.4% to 0.6%)
MRAPBEOBFLAEENM WEE RNER ~7.6%%6.6% 1N
—NE :7.4%F0.6%)
Market quote -10% Increase
adjustment factor (2019: -10%)
mEREAERER -10% &M
(ZZ2—N5F :-10%)
Market yield 4.4% to 5.4% Decrease
(2019: 5.4% to 6.2%)
T35 4 %5 4A%FEE4%  HL
(ZZ—NF 1 54%%6.2%)
Floor level difference —-3% to 3% Increase
(2019: -3% to 0%)
BEZE -3%%E3%
(ZZ—N%E: -8%F0%)
Location difference -10% to 0% Increase
(2019: -10% to 5%)
EZR -10%Z0% &
(ZF—NF : -10% £5%)
During the two years ended 30 September 2020 and 2019, BT T FRT-NFAAZ
there were no significant changes in the valuation techniques THIEMEFE - FT Tmﬁﬁ RN ERST
used. o s K&k -
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segment information

The Group has only one operating and reportable segment.
Management determines the operating segment based on the
information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision makers
(“CODMSs”) (i.e. the executive Directors). The CODMs assess the
operating performance and allocate the resources of the Group as
a whole as the Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing
and selling of adhesives, primers, hardeners and vulcanized shoes
adhesive related products used by the footwear manufacturers.
Accordingly, there is only one operating and reportable segment.

No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is presented because
the CODMs do not base on such analysis for resource allocation
and performance assessment.

Wak Kooy BE #

REQEEN
AEEERA-—EAKERATRED S - BE
BREANEEEIZZERRE(XEE
BRRE)BHRTEF)RENENET
REDEL - HNAKBEE R ERE K IH
CHEBAERNBHE  REAH &
R Rm i ERMBBEER TEE
BRREBEAGHEEBEREENFEHR
LEENMOEARENER - HIKt - 25
—(AEERAIREDEL o

TARBHOBEERBEETHN - ZH
REBLERREL RERNBEEONAE
TERD A -

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAETT
Revenue from contracts with customers BB ERELBE15HEEGEER
within the scope of HKFRS 15 REEFEHWE
Disaggregated by major products or EXrZEMARBEEAES
service lines
— Sales of goods — HEEm 543,968 691,750

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a point
in time in the following geographical locations:

PR 5] 0 32 [ ) - 7 S B 7 S B4 T B
EES LR e

2020 2019
—EZEHF —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT

Revenue W =
— PRC — 79,050 182,004
— Vietnam — #F 369,392 403,379
— Indonesia — HIE 39,345 46,190
— Bangladesh — T INHL 56,181 60,177
543,968 691,750

Annual Report 2020 | —Z-T &£ 115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION Was Ko BE R (B)
(Continued)
Operating segment information (Continued) RESEEN(ME)
During the year, there was a customer contributing revenue of FN - RE—EBEPHYE#1145,481,000
approximately HK$145,481,000 (2019: HK$216,784,000) which BIL(ZE—N5F : 216,784,000/ 7T) * 4
accounted for approximately 27% (2019: 31%) of the Group’s total MAREENBWZN27T% (ZFE—N5F:
revenue. 31%) ©
An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by their geographical BB EEE S 2 AREERBEESN
locations is as follows: W
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FAT
PRC ch 42,675 33,495
Macau P 75,855 89,413
Vietnam W 75,865 82,412
Indonesia e 2,053 2,336
Others Eth 1,172 75
197,620 207,731
9. OTHER INCOME H U A
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FAT
Interest income on bank deposits IRITE R A F B WA 1,115 772
Income from sales of scrap materials HERERMIERA 870 585
Gain on termination of a lease contract BIEAEEH W E 18 —
Government grants (Note) BURT # Bh (BT 5%) 720 868
Gross rental income from investment properties & & # ¥ AL U A @58 1,890 2,080
Others Hity 165 116
4,778 4,421
Note: Government grants mainly related to the subsidies received from the local Misk: MBI EERM A BRNRERESEEET
government authority for the achievements of certain subsidiaries of the Bt B8 22 B # B A T B A 4 B o
Group.
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HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

10. EMlim M EE

2020 2019
—EEF —T—AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
Exchange (losses)/gains, net PN (B18), M= - F5E (1,275) 2,454
Written off of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - # 22 K 3% 18 il #54 (80) (61)
Others Eith (116) (633)
(1,471) 1,770
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE . FAIEMHEX
2020 2019
—EEF —T—AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
Current tax: BV EA 7% 18 -
Provision for the year RE R

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — PEBEMREH
(“PRC EIT”) ((PESERESHRD 180 2,378
— Macau Complementary Tax — B EmEH 4,800 3,050

— Vietnam Enterprise Income Tax — BELCEMEM
(“Vietnam EIT”) (MRt EMmBHD 389 711

— Indonesian Corporate Income Tax — HIE AT H
(“Indonesian CIT”) ([EPERBRBH] - 116
Under-provision in prior years BAFEREBETR - 144
5,369 6,399
Deferred tax 5 & B 18 (1,500) 1,685
3,869 8,084

PRC EIT, Macau Complementary Tax, Vietnam EIT and Indonesian
CIT are calculated at the applicable rates in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the respective jurisdictions.

PRC EIT has been provided at a rate of 25% (2019: 25%) during

the year ended 30 September 2020.

REIE RGN  RFIAGMIEN - B
EERAEHRMEERFMFRIES AR
B ERERMOER BRI RTH -

BE_ZT-_TFAA=THLEFE FTH

TEMEBREER 2% (ZFT—NF:

25%) IR B -
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HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

11.

118

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Macau, subsidiaries
in Macau are subject to Macau Complementary Tax at a maximum
rate of 12% (2019: 12%) during the year ended 30 September
2020.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, a
subsidiary in the PRC, HK8MESHEEmBER AT (Zhuhai
Centresin  Chemical Product Company Limited) (“Zhuhai
Centresin”), is recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise by the relevant PRC government authorities and Zhuhai
Centresin was therefore entitled to enjoy a concessionary PRC
EIT rate of 15% (2019: 15%) during the year ended 30 September
2020.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Vietnam, entities
in Vietnam engaged in qualified expansion investment projects are
eligible for Vietnam EIT exemption for the first year to the second
year, and a 50% reduction for the third year to sixth year starting
from the year in which the entities first generate income from the
expansion investment projects, on the assessable profits from such
expansion investment projects. Zhong Bu Adhesive (Vietnam) Co.,
Ltd. was entitled to the tax incentive for its expansion investment
project from 2017 to 2022. The remaining assessable profits that
are not generated from these expansion investment projects, is
subject to Vietnam EIT at a standard tax rate of 20%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Indonesia,

PT. Zhong Bu Adhesive Indonesia, is subject to Indonesian CIT at
25% (2019: 25%) during the year ended 30 September 2020.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.
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11.

Fris i ()
BE—E-_PEAA=TRALEE  RE
RFIZRBERRAR  RRPIZ B A
AER BB HE12% (2T —NE  12%) 8
WRFIFR SR -

REBEFBEEREAELER - —HARF
ZHBARKEM EEHARMARRAR
(T2kiB2E ) ERBETBEBRF MRS
BHRMER  BREEEREE_FT—
FFNA=THLEFEAZFALS (ZF—
NF 16%)MEBEBEFELEMAEHHEX -

RIEMEBRARREAR  EHEETA
ERBEEREBENERBANRE—FES
“FRRRHMEEPEMREN - WIEZ
EREZSEEREAEREGSHEERAN
EFHE  BE=FE2FENFIR50%MI
M ZEREREEBUMNERT AN -
Zhong Bu Adhesive (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. B
TR FE_T - _FUZEEHEBERER
BEANHMBEE - FeABRD &M I
AEZEHERKREEEMES - HARE
EME20% BN EMSH °

HEZZ-_ZTFNLA=FTHLEFE R
BENE B EAE KA - PT. Zhong Bu
Adhesive Indonesia /8 #25% (= & — /i
F:25%) 2 TREBMENE AR FTBH ©

HRAKREY AR EEELXNESTM
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HE—

1.

F_EFAASTALEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
product of profit before tax multiplied by PRC EIT rate is as follows:

11.

B (&)

Fﬁ m%ﬁﬁzéﬁiﬁﬁmumfrﬁwrﬂlm%ﬁﬁ
SRHEERZBENEERNT:

2020 2019
—EEF —NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Profit before tax B %% A1 42 A 59,887 74,119
Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% (2019: 25%) R BB RSB R25%
(ZZ—NF : 25%) st EFL B 14,972 18,530
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible A~ 8] F1 %1 5 X B T 7§ &2 & 1,748 1,711
Tax effect of income that is not taxable 78 M IR A B T S R (706) (2,301)
Tax effect of tax exemption and tax concession &% & THI B AR MBI & K&
granted to certain subsidiaries REERNH S E (11,596) (19,321)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRIEBENR & 6,893 9,280
PRC dividend withholding tax PR B TR (765) 1,552
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMFEEREZHME QR
operating in other jurisdictions HATRAMENTZE (5,942) (1,644)
Under-provision in prior years BAFERETR - 144
Tax effect of temporary difference not FERZEREZBARGETE
recognised (735) 133
Income tax expense FriS Bl & 3,869 8,084
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12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FRm A
The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging the following: REBFRNEMNEZHBRATIER :
2020 2019
—EEF ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Auditor’s remuneration % S A B &
— audit service — ZERH 1,250 1,250
— non-audit services — R 599 598
Amortisation B 5y
— intangible assets - mEEE 43 43
— prepaid lease payments on land use rights  — T fF AEBNEAER - 399
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment — W KERRE 12,883 12,057
— right-of-use assets — FRBEE 2,414 -
Operating lease rentals LERERS
— motor vehicles - AE - 2,804
— rented premises and leasehold land — HEWERBAELH - 3,363
Royalty fees included in cost of goods sold FTAEKR AT E 2,245 3,292
Research and development expenses 2 5 & 5,964 4,907
Allowances for trade, bills and other receivables, 2 5 U 85 7k - fEUL Z 48 &
net H A e U B8 B R R 2,192 4,000
Allowances for inventories FEREE 3,130 3,553
And after crediting: RETALATIHE
Gross property rental income before deduction FRINBRZ AT ER S WA
of outgoings #a xR 1,890 2,080
Less: Outgoings 32 8 (380) (380)
1,510 1,700
Cost of goods sold includes staff costs, depreciation and HENABRBFEINA  TERLEMR
operating lease rentals of approximately HK$16,659,000 (2019: & & 416,659,000 T (=T — L&
HK$14,418,000) which are included in the amounts disclosed 14,418,000 7T) » W E FFA £ X FF7E13
separately above or in note 13 for each of these types of expenses. ZHEASI BT BEENSENR -
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 13. BETREAMAX
2020 2019
—EIEHF ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FH T
Employee benefits expense BIRAMAZ(EETMEEKRIN -
(excluding Directors’ emoluments):
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e fEAL R 53,859 68,742
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RORAE T ET 2 4,606 5,705
58,465 74,447
Five highest paid individuals hEEERFHFAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year FR -AEEBREERSFATPRIEDNS
included four (2019: three) Directors whose emoluments are ZE-NEFZR)ES BEEANMER
reflected in the analysis presented in note 14(a). The emoluments MAKIFE14@Z2FH TR « g F—HR (=
of the remaining one (2019: two) individuals are set out below: T-NF MB)ATHMS I OT
2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHE T
Basic salaries and allowances AR & RER 833 1,608
Discretionary bonus B 15 IEAT 849 2,923
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R ARAE B EF S 58 78
1,740 4,609
The emoluments fell within the following band: e N FUATEHE :

Number of individuals

A B
2020 2019
e L
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T £2,000,0007% 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T 22,500,000 7T - 2
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HEC

Z-EFNA=ZTHLEFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

122

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every Director is set out below:

14, EFEFA M=
(a EEE£
SEEWHMLHEIOT

N/

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a Director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

BAERESRUERBERABROHE

(7 o B A 2 ) 2 EL B B 2 A R 38)

Employer’s
contribution
to a
retirement
Discretionary Housing benefit
Fees Salaries bonus allowance scheme Total
[EA!
BIKER
we e B1ETEAL EEEE  FENER @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TiER FTiER FERT TiER TR FERT
Name of Director ESHA
Mr. leong Un BHEsE - 4,536 4,128 - 363 9,027
Mr. Ip Chin Wing ERRAE - 1,788 310 20 143 2,261
Mr. Ip Ka Lun EEmEE - 1,788 226 - 143 2,157
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince  Stephen Graham
Prince %t 4 - 1,788 329 116 143 2,376
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George R 7k #h % & 144 - - - - 144
Mr. Simon Luk fEH 254 144 - - - _ 144
Mr. Tong Hing Wah BEESE 144 - - - - 144
Total for the BE-Z_-%F
year ended hWB=+RLEE
30 September 2020 @t 432 9,900 4,993 136 792 16,253
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a Director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
BAAEREFRURBE RN ERE €
(TR AR B 5k E T B A R &)
Employer’s
contribution
to a
retirement
Discretionary Housing benefit
Fees Salaries bonus allowance scheme Total
EEm
RKTE T
we e BB IEAT ERER  FEIMMHER @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FET FHET FAET FET
Name of Director EEHR
Mr. leong Un 15 55 & — 3,370 1,484 - 236 5,090
Mr. Ip Chin Wing ERREHE - 1,728 204 — 121 2,053
Mr. Ip Ka Lun ExEmrE — 1,728 352 — 121 2,201
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince  Stephen Graham
Prince %t & — 1,728 305 - 121 2,154
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George Rk #h % 4 144 - - - - 144
Mr. Simon Luk BER 2 %A 144 — - — — 144
Mr. Tong Hing Wah BEEL A 144 - - - - 144
Total for the EZT-NF
year ended NA=THLFE
30 September 2019 ®E 432 8,554 2,345 - 599 11,930
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&

14. BENEFITS AND

E-F-TEAA=THLEE

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Neither the chief executive nor any of the Directors waived
any emoluments during the year (2019: nil).
(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
Save as disclosed in this consolidated financial statements,
and contracts amongst group companies, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company was a party and in which a Director and other
Director’'s connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

15. DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the final dividend for
the year ended 30 September 2019 of HK5.2 cents (2019: final
dividend for the year ended 30 September 2018 of HK2.6 cents)
per ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$30,200,000 (2019:
HK$15,605,000) was declared and paid to the shareholders of the
Company.

The final dividend for the year ended 30 September 2020 of HK5.2
cents per ordinary share has been proposed by the Directors and
is subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The proposed final
dividend of approximately HK$29,294,000 is calculated on the basis
of 563,351,076 ordinary shares in issue at the date of this report.

15.

EE@EMENE(E)

(@ EEM<£(E)
FA BEIZTRAEREMNE
ERELAME (ZFT—NEF &) -

b) EERXE RHEIHSHPH
EXES
BRAGREMBEHRREEERRHA
BHMREN RAFEERKHL
RAFERTAER > LA FERN
REASREITVUMER-—REERE
MWEENEETERIEEREEE
REARENEMEARS - 5
REH# -

H&%

BE_Z-_TFNA=THLEE ER
ZA/N Tﬁxﬁ EEERNBEE-ZE-NFN
A=1THLEFERPREEREBIS.2
BUMCCE-NAF BE_ZT-N\FLA
=tTREIEFERPRE26EM) XL
30,200,0007% 7t (=& — L% : 15,605,000
BT e

i%akm/ﬁﬂai_v_gihﬂzwL
BItFERAKREERIEEKRS2E -
MEBFAR ﬂﬂxﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁiﬁgi
& o Eik R EII B 429,294,000 7T T3
AR S HHIE 317 #9568,351,076 /% &
BREHEESSHE
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. BAX & A
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREXRZEF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on FRERBFTIEATEE

the following:

2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZT-hF
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET T T
Earnings ZF
Profit for the purpose of calculating basic ~ stEERERRBF| 2 #HF
earnings per share 56,018 66,035
2020 2019
—E-%F —T-hF
’000 000
T F &
Number of shares igvig (g=|
Weighted average number of ordinary shares st E &R EKABF 2 L@
for the purpose of calculating basic N T g 8
earnings per share 572,015 604,556
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) SREBBEF
No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company HRARREBE_ZE_TFR-_T—
did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the NENLA=ZFBIEFEILELME
years ended 30 September 2020 and 2019. FEELER - I E25 TR E

SERA -
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HE—

17.

F_EFAASTALEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

7. WEME

HK$’000
T T
Fair value /NSOl

At 1 October 2018 RZZ—-N\FE+H—H 73,200

Net increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss FRARERERN AT EZINFE
during the year 1,000

At 30 September 2019 and 1 October 2019 RZE-NLFNALA=TAERK

T-nF+H—H 74,200

Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or EI*JE’\TE =EROAFERDFE
loss during the year (5,100)
At 30 September 2020 RZEBEZZEFNA=1H 69,100

Investment properties were revalued at 30 September 2020 and
2019 by Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited, an independent
firm of chartered surveyors.

Valuation for Macau and PRC office units was derived using
the Income Approach (or sometimes referred to as a method of
the Market Approach for the reversionary interests and the rate
of return are market-derived) by taking into account the current
rent receivables from the existing tenancy agreements and the
reversionary potential of the property interests.

At 30 September 2020, the carrying amount of investment
properties amounted to approximately HK$64,400,000 (2019:
HK$69,900,000) was pledged to banks to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group as set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

18 % B S R B AT A T
BAERADN - E-TER-_TAF
AAZ+EETER -

RPN E B AR A B R A
(RERGEEATSE ERERERDN
kR BRMBEE) Lt RRTHE
i % HO 3R B R W TH & I SRAE RV 18 57 R Ak
o

RZEZZEFALA=1+H HEVE®
R T & £964,400,0008 L (ZZF — L& -
69,900,000/ 7o) E M T RITIEAKE T
AEBRTEEZCER(GFBEREEY
7% ) 7 MY £30) °
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
TEFNA=ZTRHLEFE

BHE—

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. W% - RN RE
Furniture,
Land and fixtures and Leasehold Motor Plant and  Construction
buildings equipment  improvements vehicles equipment in progress Total
B £1E
T REF Rife HEMERE RE HERRE ERIRE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT FET THT FET FET THT
Cost %
At 1 October 2018 R=ZF—-N\F+A—AH 68,972 12,331 5,807 6,558 75,389 5,872 174,929
Exchange difference EHEH (1,170) (169) (10) (50) (1,002) (25) (2,426)
Additions NE 24 1,436 - = 346 10,949 12,755
Transfers ®i 3,727 169 - - 10,624 (14,520) -
Disposals HE - - - - (194) - (194)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENRBRR - (693) - - - - (693)
Written off ik - (120) - - (115) - (235)
At 30 September 2019 and RZZ-AENA=ZTER
1 October 2019 “F-NFt+A-H 71,553 12,954 5,797 6,508 85,048 2,276 184,136
Exchange difference EHER 1,139 212 52 81 1,110 (46) 2,548
Additions NE 14 871 242 - 1,104 2,671 4,902
Transfers @i 45 274 1,317 - 2,242 (3,878) -
Disposals HE - - - (137) - - (137)
Written off i 35 - (116) - - (104) (48) (268)
At 30 September 2020 RZZZTERA=FAH 72,751 14,195 7,408 6,452 89,400 975 191,181
Accumulated depreciation Rt E
At 1 October 2018 RZZ-N\F+A—-H 16,283 6,123 5,515 4132 30,156 - 62,209
Exchange difference BHERE (498) (100) Q] @7 (638) - (1,264)
Charges for the year FRZ 3,050 1,812 74 676 6,445 - 12,057
Disposals HE - - - - (175) - (175)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENRB AR - (499) - - - - (499)
Written off ik - (110) - - (74) - (184)
At 30 September 2019 and RZZ-NENAZTER
1 October 2019 —Z-NFt+A-H 18,835 7,226 5,588 4,781 35,714 - 72,144
Exchange difference EXZEE 519 110 7 32 838 - 1,506
Charges for the year FRZ 3,177 2,156 174 545 6,831 - 12,883
Disposals HE - - - (124) - - (124)
Written off s - (110) . - (78) . (188)
At 30 September 2020 R-Z-FENA=1+A 22,531 9,382 5,769 5,234 43,305 - 86,221
Carrying amounts REE
At 30 September 2020 R-ZB-FFNA=+H 50,220 4,813 1,639 1,218 46,095 975 104,960
At 30 September 2019 “F-NFNA=1H 52,718 5,728 209 1,727 49,334 2,276 111,002
At 30 September 2020 the carrying amount of property, plant AZEZTFNAA=TH W #R

RERBR T (E 493,466,000 L (— & — jL
13,572,000 ) BT T IRITIEAR K
FAREERTEEZERGFRBHNES
81 1% ¥R 3k M 5E30) o

and equipment amounted to approximately HK$3,466,000 (2019:
HK$3,572,000) was pledged to banks to secure bank facilities
granted to the Group as set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BH=E

19.

20.

—EEFAAZTHILEFE

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

19, BN T E R

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Carrying amount RHAE
At beginning of year NEE ) 11,750 12,091
Exchange difference MEH = - 58
Amortisation for the year &F N Y - (399)
Reclassification due to adoption of HKFRS 16 RPWE BT REAER
(Note 3) 51657 M & 3 5 F8 (M 73) (11,750) —
At end of year RER - 11,750
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HBEREMOHN
Current assets MENEE - 400
Non-current assets ERBE E - 11,350
- 11,750
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. EAEEE
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
HE L HEME &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 October 2019 (Note 3) WZZE—-—hF+A—H
(M 7E3) 11,750 7,592 19,342
Additions NE — 90 90
Depreciation = (400) (2,014) (2,414)
Termination of a lease contract & IFTAEA X — (933) (933)
Exchange difference PE W AE% (31) 134 103
At 30 September 2020 RZEBEZTFANA="TH 11,319 4,869 16,188

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$4,868,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of approximately HK$4,869,000 as at
30 September 2020. These lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.

RZZE_TFAA=THR HEAE
#)4,868,000/8 T E B R E M IEE E X
4,869,000 T —R#ER - REHEARFE
MBEEEZERERI BEHET
BIERRY -HEEETSREEER
R -
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HE—

20.

128

F-FFAA=TALFR

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

20. FAHAEEE(E)

2020

—EEF

HK$’000

FEx

Depreciation on right-of-use assets FTREEENTE 2,414

Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBEMEXZH 152
Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in cost ~ BEREHAMAERM T GEAEER K -

of goods sold, selling and distribution costs and HERDHEKAURITHER)
administrative expenses) 1,673

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 36(c).

For both years, the Group leases various offices, factories and staff
quarters for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 1.25 years to 4.5 years, but may have extension and
termination options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold
land components of these owned properties are presented
separately only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.
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For the year ended 30 September 2020

BH=E

21.

—EEFAAZTHILEFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. B EE
Club Formula Customer
memberships rights relationship Total
B [k EFH& et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAETT FA&TT FAETT
Cost R
At 1 October 2018 RZZE—NF+H—H 2,660 1,600 40,000 44,260
Exchange difference 0 5 = %8 8 — — 8
Disposal of subsidiaries & M B A A) — — (40,000) (40,000)
At 30 September 2019 RZZE—NFILA=1TH
and 1 October 2019 r—Z-NF+A—H 2,668 1,600 — 4,268
Exchange difference ME H Z R 3) — — 3)
At 30 September 2020 R-E-_TEFNA=1H 2,665 1,600 - 4,265
Accumulated B BEREEREE
amortisation and
impairment losses
At 1 October 2018 RZE—N\F+H—H 91 1,600 40,000 41,691
Amortisation 1 5 43 — — 43
Impairment losses BEEE 600 - - 600
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWNB AT - — (40,000) (40,000)
At 30 September 2019 RZE-NFNA=T+H
and 1 October 2019 r=FE-NF+H—H 734 1,600 — 2,334
Amortisation 1 5 43 — — 43
At 30 September 2020 RZE_EFNA=1H 777 1,600 — 2,377
Carrying amount REE
At 30 September 2020 WK-ZE-EFHhA=+H 1,888 - — 1,888
At 30 September 2019 RZZFE-NFhLA=1H 1,934 - - 1,934

The average

remaining amortisation period of the club

memberships with finite useful lives are 35 to 37 years (2019: 36

to 38 years).

HABRAIERFH0 @ 0TI 4R #
HiR36E37F (ZT— N5 : 36E38%F) °
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RE-F-FTAA=TELTE

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

22. RMTBARIMIKE

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of which are RZEBEZFEFNA=1H  AAFNFEN
wholly-owned by the Company, as at 30 September 2020 are as BAR(ZHARAZEBRAB)FRBREOT:

follows:

Name of subsidiary

MELTRE

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
operations

L3 A v
RS MBS

Nominal value of issued and fully
paid share capital/registered
capital/charter capital/

quota capital

ERTRAZKRAE ZMREER
HUEAXREEAHEE

Principal activities

FEER

Keen Castle Limited*

Keen Castle Limited*

PT. Zhong Bu Adhesive Indonesia

PT. Zhong Bu Adhesive Indonesia

Zhong Bu Adhesive (Vietnam)
Co., Ltd.
HER A PR (L) B R A R

HEMERMEHRARAF
(Zhuhai Centresin Chemical
Product Company Limited)
(Note)

REMEBNEHRERAA
(Ff 5%)

lao Son Hong Paint Company

Limited

REETERAT

130

British Virgin Islands
(“BVI")
RERLES
3 1%:¢:2-0)
Indonesia
ENfE
Vietnam
el

PRC

T E

Macau

Shares — US$2,000

M fh — 2,000% T

Paid up capital — US$300,000
B2 RA — 300,000% 7T
Chartered capital — US$11,000,000
FFA] & 7R — 11,000,000% 7T

Registered capital — HK$31,000,000

M EZAR — 31,000,000/ 7T

Quota capital — MOP900,000

[REEE AR — 900,00032 F9 7T
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Investment holding

BEER

Processing and packaging of
adhesive products
BAEEMINT RE R

Processing and packaging of
adhesive products
BAAIEMINT R R

Manufacture of adhesive
products

SERBREE R

Provision of agency services
for the Group’s raw material
procurement and distribution
of adhesive products

RAEEMRM B RE R
BRAEDSHREG/RRE
Pk



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/

Nominal value of issued and fully
paid share capital/registered
capital/charter capital/

22. RINEBARIRIKE (B)

Name of subsidiary operations quota capital Principal activities
EM AL ERTRBZKRAE FZMRELR
ol N BE B HUEAXREEAHE FBEE
Infinity Development Macao Macau Quota capital — MOP100,000 Provision of promotion,
Commercial Offshore Limited marketing, research
and development,
technical assistance and
administrative support
services
ERERBFBRFEHERBER B REEEZR — 100,0000RFIc  IREHE - &85 - 58 - Bil7
NG| X IE RAITB X R
Huu Tin Hang Company Limited  Vietnam Chartered capital — VND600,000,000 Processing and packaging of
adhesive products
Huu Tin Hang Company Limited — #iF FFAl & 7N — 600,000,0008imFEE BIHBEELNMIEBE

Great Qasis International Limited BVI

Great Oasis International Limited HBER XS
Zhong Bu (Centresin) Adhesive Macau

& Chemical Co., Ltd.
B BE L THR AR B P

Directly held by the Company.

Note:

The entity is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC.

Shares — US$100
B — 100ZE T

Quota capital — MOP100,000

fREE & 7R — 100,0002F3 7T

Trading of raw materials and
adhesive products
FEMEREREERES

Administrative support for the
operation in Kingdom of
Cambodia and Bangladesh

RN &N e E
REITHEZE

* BMARNRERFA -

MiaE: ZERE
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

23. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 23. NEE RNEINIRE
2020 2019
—BEF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx T T
Unlisted: JE T
Share of net assets EEEEFE 931 2,322
Goodwill Bk 43,214 43,214
44,145 45,536
Accumulated impairment losses (Note) 2 REBE () (39,893) (38,393)
4,252 7143
Details of the Group’s associates at 30 September 2020 are as RZZE_FBEFNA=ZFTH AEBEHBHLERQ
follows: AEBHT:
Place of Particular of issued and Percentage of ownership
Name incorporation paid up capital interest
7B =X 1 BY 37 tth BY EBERITRBERAFE ErERERBEI L
Blue Sky Energy Efficiency BVI Shares — US$50,000 40% (2019: 40%)
Company Limited
Blue Sky Energy Efficiency HBELZEES B> — 50,0005 7T 40% (ZZ— N4 : 40%)
Company Limited
Warrant Parking Management Macau Quota capital — MOP50,000 40% (2019: 40%)
Limited
ERENEEEARAR B P PREEE AR — 50,0002  40% (ZZF—NF : 40%)
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BHE—

23.

ZoZFNA=ZTHLEFE

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note:

The Group recognised impairment losses of HK$38,393,000 for the year ended
30 September 2017 on its investment in an associate, Blue Sky Energy Efficiency
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Blue Sky Group”). The Blue Sky
Group acquired an equity interest in a group which engages in bioenergy research
and ethanol production in the PRC (the “PRC operation”) during the year ended
30 September 2017. The PRC operation was unable to commence production as
planned following the acquisition due to certain technical difficulties and there was
no definite timetable to start operation. In addition, the Blue Sky Group was unable
to execute or dispose of its two potential energy efficiency projects during the year
30 September 2017. There was no significant change in the status of operation of
the Blue Sky Group and the PRC operation in the current year.

In light of these events and circumstances, the Directors considered that indicators of
impairment existed in respect of the investment in the Blue Sky Group and engaged
an independent professional valuer, Fairdex Valuation Advisory Limited to determine
its recoverable amount. Based on the valuation report dated 23 December 2020, the
recoverable amount of the investment in the Blue Sky Group as at 30 September
2020 was Nil (2019: Nil).

The recoverable amount of the investment in the Blue Sky Group was based on its
fair value less costs of disposal estimated using the cost approach. The fair value
measurement is categorized as level 3. The impairment loss reflects the condition
of certain obsolete and dismantled equipment of the PRC operation and the fact
that the Blue Sky Group had no contracts on hand about the PRC operation at 30
September 2019 and 2020. The key assumptions relate to the value of the underlying
assets and liabilities of the Blue Sky Group (including those of the PRC operation)
and include the expected resale values and disposal costs of those assets.

In addition to the impairment of the investment in the Blue Sky Group, for the
year ended 30 September 2020, the Group recognised impairment losses of
HK$1,500,000 on its investment in an associate, Warrant Parking Management
Limited.

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share of the
amounts of the individual immaterial associate under the equity
method.

23. NEEE RAIHIRE

N/

= (%)

I}

B

AEERBEZE-T—tFNA=ZTHIEFERA R
& /27 Blue Sky Energy Efficiency Company Limited
LEWEB AR ([Blue Sky&E )2 % EHRRBERE
838,393,000/ 7T ° Blue Sky EERE EZ-T—tF
NAZ+TBEFERE-—BRPBELEE YR
RERCELAENEE(PEZEEBEDORE - $
B 4% 2 5 75 P W 12 B B T BT IR B oK B IR 5T 81HR
B ONEEEMRERER - LI - Blue SkyEEBIR
HE-T—+tFhA=ZTBLEFERERNHITHD
EEMIABTELHNIAE © Blue SkyEB kPR LEZE
BREAFENEERAL|ERES) -

ERREEHREN - EERANBlue SkyEE 2 &
BEEEREDNRUTEZE LB LS EEEMMNR
ﬂﬁﬁmﬂﬁ#EETW@ﬁﬁ RIEBHAZT

TFE+=-ZA=+= Emmﬁﬁi " Blue Sky £ [®
&émTW@ﬁﬁ —Z-ZEFAA=t+RAECC
T-NEF:8E) -

M Blue SkyS(EBE 2 R EZ A EI S REHERERFE
WAE AR AR EGBFHLERAGTE - ZRAFET=
AN EAE=RER - ZREBEREPELEER
B TRERDIFRRMERIREKLBlue Sky R BRZF
“NERZEZTFNATAFBEITEEBEPEL
EEBHNAEHNNEE - T 2B R MABlue SkyEE (B
EHREEEXB)NEREERABEEERB TR
REEENERIEEEEREEMA -

B Blue Skyk B ERREN BEZT_ZTFAN
A=+HILLFE AEEGFERHE AR EREAS
EIR AR AR AR E MR E F5 181,500,000/ 7T ©

TRIFEDETAREA LR ER I
BEERENREE -

2020 2019
—ECEF —T—AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TE&x FHET
At 30 September WHAA=+H
Carrying amounts of interests EmEREE 4,252 7,143
Year ended 30 September: BENALA=1HLEE:
(Loss)/profit for the year and total F W (B8, & F R 2mks
comprehensive income 4% (1,391) 311
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

23. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 23. REtE RAIMIRE (8)
The Group has not recognised loss for the year amounting to AEERF AN EEBlue Sky&EEER A
approximately HK$105,270 (2019: HK$349,000) for the Blue Sky #H49105,27078 70 (ZZF— L4 : 349,000/
Group as share of such losses would exceed the Group’s interest TZEBE TTHRASESEZSEE
in the Blue Sky Group. The accumulated losses not recognised for B HE A Blue Sky =B FTHFIAERR © &
were approximately HK$643,270 (2019: HK$538,000). Rz Rt BB A#643,2708 L (ZF —
L& 538,000/ 7T) °
As at 30 September 2020, the bank and cash balances of the R-ZEBE-_ZFFNA=1+H AEBEZHE
Group’s associates in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to RAEUAREFENRITEBESEHRAD
approximately HK$517,000 (2019: HK$126,000). Conversion of RMB 517,000/ 7t (ZF — 14 : 126,000/8 7T) °
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange AR IR R INE A Z R BISMNEE B 35 51
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and LaE  SERNESBEREMRS -
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
24. INVENTORIES 24, 78
2020 2019
—ECEF ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FE T
Raw materials R 26,621 41,046
Finished goods BIRK 11,943 25,340
38,564 66,386
25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. BZREIWENR FREELEH
tt & W 3K 18
2020 2019
—E2-®F —T-hF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx T T
Trade receivables B 5 FE W R 5k 151,588 153,254
Bills receivables R R & 7,587 7155
Allowances for doubtful debts RIREE (9,241) (6,097)
149,934 154,312
Value-added tax recoverable AJ Yy [e] 3% 8 B 14,300 9,384
Other receivables H A pE W 308 1,914 3,245
Prepayments TE B 3,671 3,520
169,819 170,461
The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. AEFEREPHNESIBEREIEREEKR
The credit terms generally range from 15 to 120 days. o EEH-—BNF15F1208 -
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HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. ZSEINER - EWEZiE K H

(Continued) it & W 508 (48 )
The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, based on the LWTAEZERERMERERIRIZESR
invoice date, and net of allowances, is as follows: B Z BRER AT (FOBR B ) -
2020 2019
—B-BF -—T-Af
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
0 to 90 days 0£90H 121,218 132,998
91 to 180 days 91%£180H 28,666 20,425
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 50 889
149,934 154,312
As at 30 September 2020, allowances were made for estimated RZZEZZEFNA=F+H BREFTH
irrecoverable trade and bills receivables of approximately U 1B & 5 e U BR R K e W 2R 5 499,241,000
HK$9,241,000 (2019: HK$6,097,000). BT (ZT — 1% : 6,097,000/% 7T) 1 H B
1 o
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills receivables, REENBRREREBINESEKER R
before allowances of doubtful debts, are denominated in the EWEBEOMEEE AT EEEE:

following currencies:

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FiE&x FAT

USD e 120,422 117,100
RMB AR 27,494 32,904
IDR NE& 863 3,218
HK$ 9T 9,724 6,069
Others Ei 672 1,118
Total FEE 159,175 160,409
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26.

136

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND 26. PR &|R1T1F A KIRITRIR
CASH BALANCES 4R
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER TH&T
Restricted bank deposits (Note (a)) 52 PR I 4R 17 17 7 (Pt 5% (a)) 6,725 13,101
Time deposits with maturities of over three —ERANE—FUTRAZ
months but less than one year (Note (b)) & #3137 3% (B 3% (o) 16,481 —
Cash and cash equivalents e hBE2EED 162,599 75,485
185,805 88,586
Notes: B 2
(a) The Group’s restricted bank deposits represented deposits pledged to banks (a) REBEOZRFBRITFEREBERTRITIER

to secure banking facilities granted to the Group as set out into note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Short-term time deposits were made for a maximum period of six months at
interest rates ranging from 2.2% to 2.3% per annum.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s restricted bank deposits,
time deposits and bank and cash balances are denominated in the
following currencies:

BPAEEBTEEZER(FBARNGEY
% & M FE30) ©

(o) RHEHMEAONSEREARABNEA - FH X
N F2.2%%2.3% °

AEBNZRHRITER  EHEFEFAK
RIOTMRSERNREEDALTESG
B:

2020 2019
—EBCEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TEx FHET

HK$ AT 96,650 48,195
UsD ETT 81,360 31,0987
RMB AR 3,136 2,615
VND WEE 1,520 4,063
Others Emh 3,139 1,726
185,805 88,586

As at 30 September 2020, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$3,136,000 (2019: HK$2,615,000). Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

27. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. BHEMNER - BANERE &AM
&S 3R I8

2020 2019
—EZEH —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET
Trade payables E I EMNER 39,297 34,142
Bills payables — secured ENEE — FEE 4,496 5,829
43,793 39,971
Customers’ deposits received BREFPIZS 23 159
Accruals FEtE R 57,593 53,298
101,409 93,428

The Group normally receives credit terms of 30 to 90 days from its
suppliers. The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables, based

on the date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

AEBEHER —RIGI0E0RZEE
H - LT REZENER R ENRBRK

BUE m HEIZ Bl o AT

2020 2019

—EBEF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TEx FAT

0 to 90 days 0Z90H 42,144 39,819
91 to 180 days 91£180H 1,630 —
181 to 365 days 1812 365H - 99
Over 1 year 15 LA 19 53
43,793 39,971

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and
denominated in the following currencies:

bills payables are

AEEEFRERMNER R ENRENREE

TyAT I E M 5HE -

2020 2019
—EZEHF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TFHEx FHET

RMB AR 15,667 13,217
USD *=5T 18,233 18,302
VND HEE 4,822 2,446
HK$ BT 4,496 5,490
Others HAh 575 516
43,793 39,971
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For the year ended 30 September 2020

HEZ

29.

F-TFAASTALEE

28. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY 28. [Eff—EIRIE AR FIA
As at 30 September 2019, the amount due to Easy Ray Holdings RZZE—hFNA=+8 " EfEasy Ray
Limited, a company controlled by Mr. leong Un, a Director, was Holdings Limited (R E 2= 15 5 5t 4 1% il &9
unsecured, interest-free and repaid during the year ended 30 RANREBLAEER 2EERRHBE=ZZT
September 2020. “EFNAZTHLEFEAREE -
LEASE LIABILITIES 20. HEAE
Present value of
Minimum minimum
lease payments lease payments
REHEEFR REEENRZEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZERF —_T-hFE ZFBZEFE —_T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’00_0 HK$'000
TEx FAT FHEx FAT
Within one year —FR 1,764 — 1,652 -
In the second to fifth years, F_EERF
inclusive (BREEEWT) 3,333 — 3,216 —
5,097 — 4,868 —
Less: Future finance charges R R B E (229) — - -
Present value of lease obligations FfE &I 2IRE 4,868 — 4,868 -
Less: Amount due for settlement & : 1218 A RZE &5 HY
within 12 months (shown I (R &
under current liabilities) BEE T5IR) (1,652) —
Amount due for settlement after 12 B ALEEN
12 months FIE 3,216 —

138

The carrying amounts of the Group’s
denominated in the following currencies:

lease liabilities are

AEEHEREMNREEATIESG
&:

2020 2019

—EZEF —ET—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FiER FET

HK$ BT 1,073 —
RMB AREE 3,749 —
Others H b 46 —
4,868 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B R AR M AR

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

29.

30.

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
October 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which
were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.
These liabilities have been aggregated with the brought forward
balances relating to leases previously classified as operating leases.
Comparative information as at 30 September 2019 has not been
restated. Further details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS
16 are set out in note 3.

BANK LOANS

The bank loans are repayable within one year.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans are denominated
in the following currencies:

29.

30.

HERAEGE)

AEBEERBKETENEERNERTE
B HmEERE6T  YEFHER-_FT—
NFTA—BHOEES - AERELH
REFEEGHENEITROBAKEHE
MEERMcHERE - ZFRBCHEE
BEAMDBAKEHENHEE 2 AEER
B -R_T-NELA=ZTHNLERE
HIEEES - EEEBEERTEMHHREE
A6 BN E — P HBE NS °

S e
IRITE K
RITEREAR—FRNERE -

AEBRITERNREETATIIERET
=K

2020 2019
—EEHF —E—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FH&TT

UsD ETT 3,880 —
HK$ BT 30,000 —
33,880 —

The bank loans are arranged at floating rates and exposed the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. At 30 September 2020, the
average interest rate of the bank loans was approximately 2.02%
(2019: Nil) per annum.

As at 30 September 2020, the Group’s banking facilities are
secured by (i) the Group’s investment properties (note 17), (ii)
certain land and buildings (note 18); (iii) restricted bank deposits
(note 26); and (iv) corporate guarantee executed by the Company.

FARKRIHFES  AEEETERSR
SHBHERR - R-E-TENA=T
A - 4R 17 B IR 492.02% ) A 1 F R 5 &
SE-AET) o

N—E-TEANA=+H KEBENETT
FEEROAEEREMZE I E17) - (i)
AT 2T (H5E18) ¢ (i) R FIR 1T
TR (K 5E26) : R(v)ARFIREHNARE
RIEMIR -
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For the year ended 30 September 2020

B

31

140

E_T_TEAASTRALERE

DEFERRED TAX

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group:

31, IEIEFIE
AEEORAMECHEESENT

Revaluation

Undistributed surplus of

profits of investment
subsidiaries properties Total

it B 2 B REME
K5k iEF EfER et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FAT
At 1 October 2018 RZZE—NF+A—H 3,856 9,158 13,014
Exchange difference fEH =% 6 — 6
Charge for the year (Note 11) R E AR (T 5E11) 1,552 133 1,685
Disposal of subsidiaries el N EER/NE] (878) — (878)

At 30 September 2019 and RZZE—NFNLA=1+H

1 October 2019 r=Z—NF+A—H 4,536 9,291 13,827
Credit for the year (Note 11) RERNFA M FE11) (765) (735) (1,500)
At 30 September 2020 RZBE-_ZEFNA=1H 3,771 8,556 12,327

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$21,766,000 (2019: HK$18,514,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B R AR M AR

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. AR
Number of
shares Amount
igvg (g=| &8
Note HK$'000
M E FAT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each S EEO0.01/8 JT i I i %

Authorised: ERE

At 1 October 2018, 30 September RZZE—-NE+HA—H"

2019, 1 October 2019 and —E-hFhA=18"
30 September 2020 —E-NEF+A—HK
—Z_TFANA=+H 5,000,000,000 50,000

Issued and fully paid: BTN

At 1 October 2018 WZZE—-NF+H—H 615,315,076 6,153

Repurchase and cancellation of shares f% {7 B B 3 7+ $4 (a) (34,540,000) (345)

At 30 September 2019 and RZZE-NFNA=+HK

1 October 2019 —E-hFt+A—H 580,775,076 5,808

Repurchase and cancellation of shares [% {7 Bl B I 5t £ (b) (17,424,000) (174)

At 30 September 2020 R=-ZF-FFNA=+H 563,351,076 5,634

Notes: B 7 -

(@) During the year ended 30 September 2019, the Company repurchased a total (a) HEZZ-NFAA=THLFE  A2FRN
of 34,540,000 ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange and Bt 2 F7 0] B8 AN A B & $£34,540,000% 3 38 B
cancelled 34,540,000 ordinary shares of the Company. 0 +E 85 AN A 534,540,000 0% 3 i % o
Particulars of the shares repurchased during that year are as follows: RZFRNEERMDOFEFNAT

Number of Price per share
ordinary shares SRER Aggregate
of the Company Highest Lowest consideration
AATEEREA BE B®1& BmRE
(thousand shares) HK$ HK$ HK$'000
(F,&) BT BT F&T
Year ended HE-ZT—-NF
30 September 2019 NA=+HLEE
January 2019 —E-hE—f 15,148 0.70 0.63 10,540
July 2019 —ZE-hFLA 19,392 0.80 0.76 15,293
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HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

142

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Company repurchased a total
of 17,424,000 ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange and
cancelled 17,424,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

Particulars of the shares repurchased during the year are as follows:

Number of

32. lRA(4E)

BieE: (48)

(o) BE_Z-_ZHFAA=THLEE A27R
Bt <2 B [0 B 7N A ) & ££17,424,000 8% & 37 A% 3
5 85 AN A F)17,424,000 08 E @A o
RERNBEROOFEBNT :

Price per share

ordinary shares SKRER Aggregate
of the Company Highest Lowest consideration
AR EREREA BE &®1& BRE
(thousand shares) HK$ HK$ HK$’000
(F %) BT BT FET
Year ended BE-_ZT-%F
30 September 2020 AA=+HILEFE
March 2020 —E2-FH=8 17,424 0.87 0.85 15,019

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise
new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Total
debt comprises borrowings (except for bank overdrafts) and lease liabilities.
Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity (i.e. share capital,
retained profits and other reserves).
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

(Continued)

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from the year ended 30 September 2019, was to maintain the
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio as low as feasible in order to secure access
to finance at a reasonable cost. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 30
September 2020 and at 30 September 2019 were as follows:

32. WA(E)

MT R

(o)

I :

(&)
(%)
BE_Z-ZFAA=ZTRALEE AEEH
fﬂ%ﬁ%%@ﬁfi NFNA=ZTHULEFERRE

B RBAEYHKRAEREALREN LR
RBIEKE  UHERAGERFIESES -
R-EB-ZEAAZTHARZZE-NAFAA=

+H BaEHEABRERLENT

2020 2019

—EEE —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

Total debt BERE 38,748 -

Less: cash and cash equivalents WEERBEEEEY (162,599) (88,586)

Net debt BEFE (123,851) (88,586)

Total equity e MR 422,379 408,981

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BEHKABRERL X -29% -22%
The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are: (i) in order to REBZRRUATINRERRE : ()R THF

maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float of at
least 25% of the shares; and (ii) to meet financial covenants attached to the
interest-bearing borrowings.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars monthly on substantial
share interests showing the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing
compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to
immediately call borrowings. There were no breaches in the financial
covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings for the years ended 30
September 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 33. ANA & BB 7 R R & & 65 i &
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY )

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) AT BRKRRAR
As at 30 September
mhBA=+H
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-AF
Note HK$’00_0 HK$’000
B 5 FiE&xT FHET
Non-current assets kRFEE
Investment in a subsidiary RHBRRIEEE 119,019 119,019
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables H A fE U FOR 49 -
Due from subsidiaries JFE s Bt BB /X B 7k TE 21,027 64,897
Restricted bank deposit ZRERITER 707 -
Bank and cash balances RITRIB & E 8 23,709 1,772
Total current assets mEBEELE 45,492 66,669
Current liabilities mEBE
Other payables Hfth B 5B 2,452 2,201
Bank loans RITER 30,000 —
Total current liabilities mEBAEAE 32,452 2,201
Net current assets MEEEFE 13,040 64,468
Net assets BEEFE 132,059 183,487
Capital and reserves BEARARGEE
Share capital fi& A< 32 5,634 5,808
Reserves Gkia 33(h) 126,425 177,679
Total equity X8R 132,059 183,487

ER-_E_EF+_At+=HEE
EeHETHTIEEREREE:

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 December 2020
and signed on its behalf by:

Ip Chin Wing Ip Ka Lun
ER&E EEMm
Executive Director Executive Director
HiITEE HITEE
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

33. %@ﬂﬁ’\]?f BRI R K fi o

=)
(%8

v

(b) AQDTEEEH

Share-based

Capital payments
Share Share  Treasury redemption reserve Retained

capital  premium shares reserve (Note 34(b)(ii) profits Total

PYEEN

BXER ZHERE
REx  ROEE BEERG fitfE  (MFEES4(b)(ii) REEF Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET FHET FHET TET TET
At 1 October 2018 RZE-\§+A—H 6,163 164,609 - 338 4,997 5,363 181,460
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FR2HE K& 458 - - - - - 43,465 43,465
Repurchase of shares (Note 32) Bl F 7 (Pl 32) - - (25,833) - - - (25,833)
Cancellation of shares RN (345) (25,833) 25,833 345 - - -
Dividends paid (Note 15) B i 8 (Fi515) - - - - - (15,605) (15,605)
Transfer upon lapse of share options BREXUEER - - - — (4,997) 4,997 -
Changes in equity for the year ERNERED (345) (25,833) - 345 (4,997) 32,857 2,027
At 30 September 2019 RZZE-NEAA=TAH 5,808 138,776 - 683 - 38,220 183,487
At 1 October 2019 R=E-NF+A—A 5,808 138,776 - 683 - 38,220 183,487
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FR2HEKE 458 - - - - - (6,209) (6,209)
Repurchase of shares (Note 32) ol # i 17 (B 5£32) - - (15,019) - - - (15,019)
Cancellation of shares RN (174) (15,019) 15,019 174 - - -
Dividends paid (Note 15) B ik 8 (B 315) - - - - - (30,200) (30,200
Changes in equity for the year ERNERED (174) (15,019) - 174 - (36,409) (51,428)
At 30 September 2020 RZZ-ZFENA=FH 5,634 128,757 - 857 - 1,811 132,059

34. RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement

of changes in equity.

G
(@ A&KH
AEENRESBELEHREEE

N

mEkEMEPERRRRFEEER
FERAZY o
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34. RESERVES (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves

146

(b)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

Special reserve

The special reserve represents the differences
between the nominal amount of the shares issued
by the Company and the Group’s former holding
company and the aggregate amount of paid-in capital
of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in June 2009 and March 2010 in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares in
2010.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in
note 4(t) to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 4(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Legal reserve

In accordance with the provisions of the Macau
Commercial Code issued by the government of Macau,
the Macau subsidiaries of the Company are required to
transfer from their annual net profit at a minimum rate
of 25% to a legal reserve before the appropriation of
profits to dividend until the legal reserve reaches 50%
of the respective subsidiaries’ registered capital. The
legal reserve is not distributable to shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve fund

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations
for foreign investment enterprises in the PRC, the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund. Appropriation
to such reserve is made out of net profit after taxation
as reflected in the statutory financial statements of the
PRC subsidiaries in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations applicable to PRC enterprises. The statutory
surplus reserve fund can be used to make up prior
year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion
into capital by means of capitalisation issue.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 35. UM TR 2 5838

Equity-settled share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 22 July 2010, the Company
adopted a share option scheme (the “Option Scheme”), which was
expired on 22 July 2020, for the purpose of providing incentives
or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest.
Under the Option Scheme, the Directors may grant options to
any employees (including any executive Directors), non-executive
directors, suppliers of goods or services and customers of the
Group; and consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to
the Group.

Options granted must be accepted by an eligible person within 21
business days from the date of grant, provided that such date shall
not be more than 10 years after the date of adoption of the Option
Scheme. A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance. An
option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee (or his
legal personal representatives) at any time before the expiry of the
period to be determined and notified by the Board to the grantee
which in any event shall not be longer than 10 years commencing
on the date of the offer letter and expiring on the last day of such
ten-year period subject to the provisions for early termination as
contained in the Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors, and will be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average
closing price of the shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (ii) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant. The maximum number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
Option Scheme may not exceed in nominal amount of 10% of
issued share capital of the Company at any point of time without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Besides, the total
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding share options must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital from time to time. The number of shares issued and to
be issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point of time.

URgAREEERERS

BER-_ZE-—ZEFLAFT_HBBHR
BECAQBREMANBRETS(ER
Eie ) e E-_TF+A-+-HE
W EENAREREGERALTEHAR
EEAEHMER L RESRNEELEN
EELBEEFEE MBS HAEENE
MAEEFEETARENERAEEN
ANEIR - BIBFEREE - EFIHED
BERETENEE(BEETANNITES)
EMITESE AEENE R RE L ER
EEP - ARmASEREHTRE - FER
HaRE L EmER - AL - &

BERATARKELRHET2AIEEXA
AERFELOBEE EZETBES
BT SR B RS0  MEZAR
BAXMIETIERRE - ARA(RELE
BARKRANESTSET RN SR
J&E A BB By 1T (8 22 BO Sk BB 0 BB A - 1
ZHEEREA N FERELZHKME
HEIREEH10F - R ZI0FH&ZE —K
JE o - I BB AR At ) AT B RO B AT AR LE
RXXHR - (TEEHEFEE > L/AT
RERE()ARBBRONE L BN KT
B (BRORERRLARAEARISH
BT TE  Ri)RNAF RO R E LB
HIWmEE -  KREARRRRELRLE - R
EIE B SR L B AR M A TR
NEERZ T HEBAAREAKEEAE
EITIRANEERI10% © thoM - 1T PTA
ATEBEESAIRTORDEHRS
TEBBTRHEETHRAI0% o REM
FREAEAALTESD KA R EREM
BOERKTHERITORMDBBAFBBAAR
EMEMERAESEITHROD 1% -
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

35. LARKED 3R 2 SIR ()
BB A % B B0 B8 AR 4R 5T B (4%
RS AR B R SEE I T

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
R A HEH T THEE
HKS
BT
Year ended
30 September 2014
HE-T-DE
NA=Z+THLEEE
— Tranche 1 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 31 December 2014 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018 0.900
- E-# “T-NFERA=TE ZE-WERA=-THE “E-hF-A-HE 0.900
“E-WE+ZA=1+—H —E-N\F+ZA=1—H
— Tranche 2 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 31 December 2015 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018 0.900
- B-Ht “T-NFERA=TE ZE-WERA=-THE “E-R"¥-A—-HZ 0.900
“E-RE+-A=1+—H ZE2-N\F+ZA=1+—H
— Tranche 3 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 31 December 2016 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2018 0.900
o =it “T-NFERA=TE ZE-WERA=-THE “E—+t5-HA-HZ 0.900
ZE-R"F+ZA=1+—H —E-N\F+ZA=1—H
— Tranche 4 30 May 2014 30 May 2014 to 31 December 2017 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 0.900
— Mt “Z-NFRAZ+H —E-WERA=t+HEZE “2-\¥—-A—H% 0.900
ZE—tE+ZA=1—H —E-N\F+ZA=1—H
Year ended 16 June 2015 Nil 16 June 2015 to 15 June 2017 1.788
30 September 2015
Hz2-T-1F “T-RE~ATAE & “E-AFRNATAHZE 1.788
NA=ZTHLEEE 2t F A ATHA
Year ended 7 June 2016 Nil 7 June 2016 to 6 December 2017 1.300
30 September 2016
BE-T—~F “E-R~ER AER E A R = 1.300
NA=ZTHLEEE e e =

148  Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ 5 3 E = AR A 7
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RE B R AR M AR

For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 35. AR R 2 5 IA(4E)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) URASENERESTS (E)
Details of the movement of share options during the year are as RERN BREZHFBLOT:
follows:

2020 2019
—EEF —E—NF
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted
share average share average
options exercise price options  exercise price
hn#E 35 hn#E g
BREHE TEE BB IR B TEE
HK$ HK$
i T
Outstanding at the REERITEE
beginning of the year - - 916,000 0.9
Lapsed during the year RERNE K - - (916,000) 0.9

Outstanding at the end of R K& HRIT{E
the year - - — —

Exercisable at the end of the WEXRA] FIT{E

year - - — -
There was no options outstanding at 30 September 2019 and RZE-NFRZZEZTFAA=1TH"
2020. A7 48 18 R AT 55 A0 B AR A o
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries
On 8 March 2019, the Group disposed 100% of the issued
capital of Rank Best Investment Limited and its subsidiaries
to Mr. Xiao Xiongzhi, who was deemed to be a connected
person of the company at the subsidiary level, for a
consideration of HK$15,000,000.

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

36.

meBeRERNE

w3

(a)

HEKBQE
RZE—NAF=ZANB  AEEH
Rank Best Investment Limited &2 &
WB AR EPEEITRAHE T
RAIEARRTEN B QB E AR B E
ATBHELERSE - KE/R15,000,000
BT °

REERMNEEFENT:

HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment N YN 194
Inventories FE 6,294
Trade receivables and other receivables B 5 M W BR 5% T2 EoAth FE IR 5K IR 44,531
Bank and cash balances RITRIR © 4 1,659
Trade payables and other payables B 5 FE - BR 3 I H th FE A 5IE (37,198)
Current tax liabilities BVEAM B B & (4,137)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE (878)
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE 10,465
Release of foreign currency translation reserve SNISTE W AR e 322
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE B AR 2 = 4,213
Total consideration ERE 15,000
Consideration satisfied by cash UR T2 R(E 15,000
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEENBSRAFE:
Cash consideration received BYE S RE 15,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSRRSEED (1,659)
13,341
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For the year ended 30 September 2020

HEZZ-_ZEFNA=Z+THLFE

36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

activities

36.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

(b)

meaBRoRERMEE)

METBRELEEEZHE

TR AEEREEDAELN
BEEYHE ERREMIFRE
2y BmEIPAELENRERSB
REAEESCHESRERTORAS
RETHRGRENRSRELR
KRETE -

Impact on initial Restated
As at  application of balance as As at
1 October HKFRS 16 at 1 October Termination of a Interest Exchange 30 September
2019 (Note 3) 2019 Additions ~ lease contract Cash flows expenses difference 2020
BRER
ERUBRE RIT-NE
RZZ-NE ERE16%2 +A-A2Z RZBZ%F
+A-B ¥EMWH) e RE  BUEEERH Reng FlRR% EizE  AAZTH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FET FET FEL FET FET TER FET TEL
Bank loans RTER - - - - - 33,329 551 - 33,880
Amount due 1o a EN—-EEE
related company ARFE 4,898 - 4,898 - - (4,898) - - -
Lease liabilities HEAE - 7118 7118 91 (951) (1,701) 152 159 4,868
4,898 7118 12,016 91 (951) 26,730 703 159 38,748
As at As at 30
1 October Interest Exchange  September
2018 Cash flows expenses difference 2019
RZZE-N\F RZB-N&F
+A—H HRenE FEHX iE N EH NWA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET THET THET FAET TR
Bank loans RITER 36,654 (37,376) 722 - -
Amount due to a & A — ) 8 42
related company NAEIFRIE 7,885 (2,435) - (552) 4,898
44,539 (39,811) 722 (652) 4,898
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HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

36. REBRERERMTE)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) fﬂ ERERHBE
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows AR EAEREeRER HESER
for leases comprise the following: FBATEIE:

2020

—ECEF

HK$’000

FBx

Within operating cash flows KEBRSREN 1,825

Within financing cash flows MERESREA 1,549

3,374

The above amounts related to the lease rental paid during
the year ended 30 September 2020.

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 September 2020, the Group and the Company did not
have any significant contingent liabilities (2019: Nil).

38. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee
At 30 September 2019, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases were payable as follows:

tREeBEBSIERBE_T_TFAN
A=tHLtFEZzENEEREZ -

37. KARBE
R=—T-TEAA=+A  AEERAA
WEEMEAKAAE B NE: %)

38. HEHKIE
REBEBEHEA
MoB—NEANA=TE  RETAEHE
KT R N R AR SR R R R B ARSI T

2019
—NF
HK$'000
TAET

Within one year —F R
In the second to fifth year inclusive %

—EFhFREEERF)

2,252
6,004

8,256

Commitments for operating lease rentals for rented premises in the
above included commitments with Mr. leong Un, a Director, were
as follows:

A EMENReBEHS AR (B
HBEBZRGMEENARZ) T :

2019
e — L4
HK$'000

TBT

Within one year —F R
In the second to fifth year inclusive

464

F_EEFRF(BREEMF) 694

1,158

1562
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For the year ended 30 September 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZFANA=+TRHLFE

38. LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued) 38. MHERIEE)

The Group as lessee (Continued)
The above operating lease rentals arrangement with Mr. leong Un, a
Director, was terminated during the year ended 30 September 2020.

Operating lease payments mainly represented rental payable by the
Group for certain of its offices and factories. Leases are negotiated
for terms ranging from 1 to 4 years and rentals are fixed over the
lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices,
warehouses and staff quarters. As at 30 September 2020, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expenses disclosed in note
20.

The Group as lessor
At 30 September 2019, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases were receivable as follows:

AEBEREABAGE)
FHEREEHHEENKZHERHE R
HREBE"Z-_TFAA=THLEFER
_It o

REBHENREBEARERELSE TH
REMNBERERANNES - BORNF1E
sFEEEE  HeAEHEE AT
SASAESE -

AEERBAE REREIBEEEHT
VEBEE R_T_ZEFHA=tH"
%A B4 A I RE 20 BT 4% BR &Y A AR
MERXzEMEEAARE -

AEBESHEA

R REAA=TA - BT
SR E Rk KRR ERE R EEE
o :

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FHE T

—FR

Within one year

443

All of the Group’s investment properties are held for rental purposes
and have committed tenants for the next 1 year.

Operating leases relate to investment properties owned by the
Group with lease terms of 3 months to 3 years. All operating lease
contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the lessee
exercises its options to renew. The lessee does not have an option
to purchase the properties at the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivables on leases as at 30

September 2020 are as follows:

AEEMAEREMEORIFHEEREZAD
RARFIFEBHE AT -

REMERAEERBCREMERR
HEBNFIEAEIF - IEKEHERND
BREARATTREEREERE TS
BB - AHE AR B E S ERE
EMEwEEE-

R-CZE_TFAA=1TH HERKRE
MERMFOT:

2020
=t Y ¥

HK$°000
FiExT

—FRN

Within one year

507
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HE-_T-_ZEFANA=THILFE

38. LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued) 38. THEAIE(E)
The Group as lessee (Continued) A& E{ERREAR)
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit or loss TEREIBE_T_TFNA=TALF
for the year ended 30 September 2020: ERERERIER:
2020
—E-EHF
HK$’000
TEx
Gross rental income on operating leases KwEHE 2 HS WA B 1,890
39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. EARNFIE
Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting RMERRDETOERRES R EBENE
period but not yet incurred and provided for are as follow: ARAYET
2020 2019
HK$’00_0 HK$'000
TET FAT
Property, plant and equipment Vs RN R 889 836
40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BERTRS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed BR AR & B 75 3R % H b B0 0 BT I BB A R A&
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the ARG MEERIN  KE Eﬁ\ilﬁﬁﬁiﬁ@@
following transaction with its related parties during the year: B LX—IT?C%
2020 2019
—_ ? —_ ¢ :EE—j‘Lf'E
HK$’00_0 HK$'000
FE&x FAT
Property rental paid to a Director BEN—RESHWERS 190 872
A Director, Mr. leong Un, has significant influence over the related EEGMHLEHEERARNBERERTE
company. 7 e
The details of remuneration of key management personnel of the REN AEEFREEABHIM(BHE
Group include the Directors whose emoluments during the year are EFZB2) s BERAME14(0) o

set out in note 14(a).
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
YR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five financial years is set out below:

BMEEHINMT

AEBAEZIAMBFECLREREERAR

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—BCRF —_T-NF ZTN\F ZT—tF ZT—K~F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FAET FAET FAET FAET
Results for the year HEhAhA=+HL
ended 30 September FEZEE
Revenue g 2= 543,968 691,750 663,036 539,557 496,219
Profit/(loss) before tax BREAER
(B 18) 59,887 74,119 44,481 (14,608) 40,744
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF (EH#E) 56,018 66,035 40,311 (20,279) 37,159
Assets and liabilities as WA A=+HBz2
at 30 September BEEREHE
Total assets BEME 591,808 533,564 572,537 529,833 552,958
Total liabilities AfE®RE (169,429) (124,583) (181,436) (134,636) (124,514)
Net assets BEF®E 422,379 408,981 391,101 395,197 428,444
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
MEEF

Investment properties as at 30 September 2020 R-ZE-_FEFNA=1+HNREWE

Attributable
interest of the

Location Use Group
NE EH AEBEELES
Units E, F, H, |, J, K and portion of L Commercial 100%
on 16th Floor, Macau Finance Centre EES
Rua De Pequim N°S 230-246
Macau
B PIIE 72302465 RFI S R OB ZE CF - H |~ J» KEZA
L&Az &7
Portion of Unit 801 Commercial 100%
on Level 8 of Huaye Building EES

No. 2158 Mingzhu South Road
Qianshan District, Zhuhai City
Guangdong Province
The People’s of Republic of China
thEE A R RN B B R A BROE T AT LU R BA TR BK 2158 5% 3 2 K [E8188015E 2 Bl 7
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